
 

 

 

 Switchboard: 01293 438000 

Main fax: 01293 511803 

Minicom: 01293 405202 DX: 

57139 Crawley 1 

www.crawley.gov.uk 
 

 

Town Hall 
The Boulevard 

Crawley 
West Sussex 

RH10 1UZ 
 

Crawley Borough Council 
 

Cabinet 
 
 

Agenda for the Cabinet which will be held in Ashurst Main Hall - The 
Charis Centre, on Wednesday, 8 September 2021 at 7.00 pm 
 
Wi-Fi Code = cc378BCX 
 
Nightline Telephone No. 07881 500 227 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Chief Executive 

 
 
 
 
Membership: 
Councillors P K Lamb (Chair) Leader of the Council 
 R S Fiveash Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for 

Resources 
 I T Irvine Cabinet Member for Housing 
 G S Jhans Cabinet Member for Environmental Services 

and Sustainability 
 M G Jones Cabinet Member for Public Protection and 

Community Engagement 
 C J Mullins Cabinet Member for Wellbeing 
 P C Smith Cabinet Member for Planning and Economic 

Development 
 
 
 
Please contact Democratic Services if you have any queries regarding this agenda.  
democratic.services@crawley.gov.uk 
 
 

Published 26 August 2021 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack

Page 1



 

 

The order of business may change at the Chair’s discretion 
 

Part A Business (Open to the Public) 
 

  Pages 

1.   Apologies for Absence   

2.   Disclosures of Interest   

 In accordance with the Council's Code of Conduct, councillors are 
reminded that it is a requirement to declare interests where 
appropriate. 

 

3.   Minutes  7 - 18 

 To approve as a correct record the minutes of the Cabinet held on 
30 June 2021. 

 

4.   Public Question Time   

 To answer any questions asked by the public which are relevant to 
the functions of the Cabinet.  
 
Public Question Time will be concluded by the Chair when all 
questions have been answered or on the expiry of a period of 15 
minutes, whichever is the earlier. 

 

5.   Further Notice of Intention to Conduct Business in Private 
and Notifications of any Representations  

 

 The Monitoring Officer will report on any responses to 
representations received in relation to why item(s) 12: Property 
Acquisition to Increase the Council’s Portfolio of Temporary 
Accommodation should not be held in Part B Business – (Closed to 
the Public). 

 

6.   Matters referred to the Cabinet and Report from the Chair 
of the Overview and Scrutiny Commission  

 

 To consider any matters referred to the Cabinet (whether by a 
scrutiny committee or by the Council) and those for reconsideration 
in accordance with the provisions contained in the Scrutiny 
Procedure Rules, the Budget Procedure Rules and the Policy 
Framework Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of the Council’s 
Constitution. 

 

7.   Petition – 'Keep your dog on a lead in Tilgate Park'.  19 - 44 

 Wellbeing Portfolio 
  
To consider the joint report HCS/30 of the Head of Community 
Services and the Petitions Officer, which was referred to the 
meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Commission held on 6 
September 2021. 

 

Page 2



 
 
 
 
  Pages 

8.   2021/2022 Budget Monitoring - Quarter 1  45 - 64 

 The Leader’s Portfolio 
 
To consider report FIN/531 of the Head of Corporate Finance, which 
was referred to the meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Commission held on 6 September 2021. 

 

9.   Cabinet Appointments to Outside Bodies and 
Organisations  

65 - 66 

 The Leader’s Portfolio 
 
The Cabinet is requested to appoint to the Outside Bodies and 
Organisations indicated in report LDS/172 for the municipal year 
2021/2022. 

 

10.   Supplemental Agenda   

 Any urgent item(s) complying with Section 100(B) of the Local 
Government Act 1972. 

 

11.   Exempt Information – Exclusion of the Public (Subject to 
Agenda Item 5)  

 

 The Committee is asked to consider passing the following 
resolution:-  
That under Section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972 the 
public be excluded from the meeting for the following item of 
business on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of 
exempt information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act 
by virtue of the paragraphs specified against the item. 

 

Part B Business (Closed to the Public) 
 

12.   Property Acquisition to Increase the Council’s Portfolio of 
Temporary Accommodation  

67 - 72 

 Housing Portfolio 
 
Exempt Paragraph 3  
Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 
particular person (including the authority holding that information)  
 
To consider report SHAP/83 of the Head of Strategic Housing 
Services, which was referred to the meeting of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Commission held on 6 September 2021.  

 

 

This information is available in different formats and languages.  If you or 
someone you know would like help with understanding this document please 
contact the Democratic Services team on 01293 438549 or email: 
democratic.services@crawley.gov.uk 

 
 

Page 3

mailto:democratic.services@crawley.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet (1) 
30 June 2021 

 

 
 

Crawley Borough Council 
 

Minutes of Cabinet 
 

Wednesday, 30 June 2021 at 7.00 pm  
 

Councillors Present:  

 P K Lamb (Chair)   Leader of the Council  

 R S Fiveash  Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Resources  

 I T Irvine  Cabinet Member for Housing  

 G S Jhans  Cabinet Member for Environmental Services and 
Sustainability  

 M G Jones  Cabinet Member for Public Protection and Community 
Engagement  

 C J Mullins  Cabinet Member for Wellbeing  

 P C Smith  Cabinet Member for Planning and Economic 
Development  

 
Also in Attendance: 

Councillors       T G Belben, R D Burrett and D Crow   
 

Officers Present:  

Natalie Brahma-Pearl Chief Executive 

Siraj Choudhury Head of Legal, Governance & HR 

Ian Duke Deputy Chief Executive 

Karen Hayes Head of Corporate Finance 

Chris Pedlow Democratic Services Manager 

Heather Girling Democratic Services Officer 

Diana Maughan Head of Strategic Housing 

Nigel Sheehan Head of Projects and Commercial Services 

Clem Smith Head of Economy and Planning 

 
 

1. Disclosures of Interest  
 
Councillor Item and Minute Type and Nature of Disclosure 

 
Councillor 
P Smith 

Replacement Article 4 
Directions for Main 
Employment Areas  
(Class MA) (Minute 12) 

Personal Interest – As Councillor 
P Smith is the Council’s 
representative to the Town Centre 
BID Board 
 

 

Page 5

 3
 M

in
ut

es

Agenda Item 3



Cabinet (2) 
30 June 2021 

 

 
 

2. Minutes  
 
The minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 10 March 2021 were approved as 
a correct record and signed by the Leader.  
 
 

3. Public Question Time  
 
There were no questions from the public. 
 
 

4. Further Notice of Intention to Conduct Business in Private and 
Notifications of any Representations  
 
It was reported that no representations had been received in respect of agenda items 
17 and 18: Telford Place Development Opportunity and Approval to Award a Contract 
for Professional Services (Architects) – Proposed Housing Sites. 
 
 

5. Matters referred to the Cabinet and Report from the Chair of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Commission  
 
It was confirmed that no matters had been referred to the Cabinet for further 
consideration. 
 
 

6. Treasury Management Outturn 2020 – 2021  
 
The Leader presented report FIN/527 of the Head of Corporate Finance. The CIPFA 
Code of Practice for Treasury Management recommends that councillors be updated 
on treasury management activities regularly and the report ensured the Council was 
implementing best practice in accordance with the Code.  The report provided details 
of the outturn position for treasury activities and highlighted compliance with the 
Council’s policies previously approved by councillors.  It was acknowledged it was a 
more challenging time for investments, but Council officers were doing exceptionally 
well at bringing in investment income.  
 
The Cabinet noted that regulations required treasury management policy to be 
reviewed annually.  It was noted that the Council’s financial decisions for 2020/21 
were taken in line with the Ethical Investment Policy. 
 
Councillor T Belben presented the Overview and Scrutiny Commission’s comments 
on the report to the Cabinet following consideration of the matter at its meeting on 28 
June 2021, which included:  

 Acknowledgement that due to the Covid-19 pandemic, expenditure had been 
lower and capital projects had not progressed as anticipated over the last year.   

 The high level of uncertainty had impacted the ability to make significant rate of 
return.  Whist the amount of income remained uncertain, in the longer term it was 
hoped cash flows would stabilise. 

 Acknowledgement that the Treasury Strategy prioritises investments accordingly 
whilst providing an appropriate balance between security, liquidity, yield and 
ethical considerations.  Even if the yield was negative, these considerations still 
needed to be adhered to. 

 Recognition that the internally managed funds had earned an average rate of 
return of 0.58%.  Whilst there was support for this good investment performance, 

Page 6

 3
 M

in
ut

es

Agenda Item 3

https://democracy.crawley.gov.uk/documents/s18413/Treasury%20Management%20Outturn%202020%202021.pdf


Cabinet (3) 
30 June 2021 

 

 
 

the average balances were lower than budgeted for a variety of reasons (budget 
set pre-pandemic, business rates equalisation reserve and capital programme not 
progressing as anticipated). 

 
 
RESOLVED 
 
That the Cabinet:  
 
a) approves the actual 2020/21 Prudential and Treasury Indicators as set out in 

report FIN/527; 
 
b) notes the Annual Treasury Management Report for 2020/21. 
 
 
Reasons for the Recommendations 
 
The Council’s financial regulations, in accordance with the CIPFA Code of Practice for 
Treasury Management, requires an annual review following the end of the year 
describing the activity compared to the Strategy.  Report FIN/527 complies with these 
requirements.  
 
 

7. Financial Outturn 2020-2021: Budget Monitoring - Quarter 4  
 
The Leader presented report FIN/526 of the Head of Corporate Finance on the 
quarter 4 budget monitoring, which set out a summary of the Council’s outturn for both 
revenue and capital spending for the financial year 2020/21.  It identified the main 
variations from the approved spending levels and any potential impact on future 
budgets.  
 
It was noted that the Council had identified savings and efficiencies of £1.775m to 
ensure the Council’s financial position remained stable due to the impact of the 
pandemic.  However by the end of the financial year 2020/21 the Council had an 
underspend of £1.272m against the original budget and it was explained that this was 
due to the Government unexpectedly repaying 75p of every £1 after deducting 5% of 
the budgeted income from sales fees and charges for the year.  
 
The Leader informed the Cabinet that, as the Council had an unexpected one-off 
£1.2m, it was proposed to use some of this money to further fund temporary 
accommodation and support facilities for people experiencing homelessness within 
the borough.  
 
Councillor T Belben presented the Overview and Scrutiny Commission’s comments 
on the report to the Cabinet following consideration of the matter at its meeting on 28 
June 2021, which included: 

 Acknowledgement that the report documented the financial viability of the Council, 
particularly as a result of Covid-19.  It was recognised that revenue streams had 
been supressed, and any reductions would affect the current position. 

 Explanation was provided on the interest paid to HMRC due to late payment of 
VAT on disposal of land. 

 Recognition that the in-year deficit on housing rents had been increased by the 
delay letting units, in some instances due to prolonged building work. 

Page 7

 3
 M

in
ut

es

Agenda Item 3

https://democracy.crawley.gov.uk/documents/s18413/Treasury%20Management%20Outturn%202020%202021.pdf
https://democracy.crawley.gov.uk/documents/s18413/Treasury%20Management%20Outturn%202020%202021.pdf
https://democracy.crawley.gov.uk/documents/s18414/Financial%20Outturn%202020-2021%20Budget%20Monitoring%20-%20Quarter%204.pdf


Cabinet (4) 
30 June 2021 

 

 
 

 It was noted that the Council had been effective in dealing with the business 
support grants.  However, the biggest concern was how to address the challenges 
in the future to re-build the community and deal proactively with Covid-19. 

 
Councillor Crow also spoke on this item. 
 
 
RESOLVED 
 
That the Cabinet: 

 
a) notes the outturn for the financial year 2020/21 as summarised in report 

FIN/526. 
 
b) notes that this has been an exceptional year where it has been very difficult to 

do accurate financial projections. 

 
Requests Full Council to: 
 
a) approve the increase the capital budget for purchase of temporary 

accommodation from £1.1m to £2.4m to be funded from specific homelessness 
grants, revenue and earmarked reserves for purchase of such properties. 

 
b) approve the transfers of reserves as outlined in section 9 of report FIN/526. 
 
 
Reasons for the Recommendations 
 
To report to Members on the projected outturn for the year compared to the approved 
budget. 
 
 

8. Leisure Contract - Extension of Variation Order  
 
The Cabinet Member for Wellbeing presented report HPS/27 of the Head of Major 
Projects and Commercial Services.  The report set out the arrangements the Council 
had entered into with Everyone Active (EA) following the initial lockdown in March 
2020 and recommended that the Cabinet extends the variation order to facilitate the 
continued opening of the leisure centres over the period 1 July 2021 – 30 September 
2021. 
 
Councillor T Belben presented the Overview and Scrutiny Commission’s comments 
on the report to the Cabinet following consideration of the matter at its meeting on 28 
June 2021, which included: 

 Recognition that due to the pandemic income had decreased.  With social 
distancing and public health requirements remaining in place, it was noted that K2 
Crawley would operate a phased opening. 

 Confirmation provided that the proposed extension was for a 3 month period and it 
was hoped that should the contract variation be extended for this time period it 
would assist in this phased approach. 

 Recognition that Everyone Active would be keen to build on capacity moving 
forward and that events were scheduled, increasing the income stream. 

 

Page 8

 3
 M

in
ut

es

Agenda Item 3

https://democracy.crawley.gov.uk/documents/s18414/Financial%20Outturn%202020-2021%20Budget%20Monitoring%20-%20Quarter%204.pdf
https://democracy.crawley.gov.uk/documents/s18414/Financial%20Outturn%202020-2021%20Budget%20Monitoring%20-%20Quarter%204.pdf
https://democracy.crawley.gov.uk/documents/s18415/Leisure%20Contract%20-%20Extension%20of%20Variation%20Order.pdf


Cabinet (5) 
30 June 2021 

 

 
 

RESOLVED 
 
That the Cabinet approves the extension of the contract variation with Everyone 
Active under the terms set out in section 5.8 of report HPS/27. 
 
 
Reasons for the Recommendations 
 
The recommendation facilitates the continued re-opening of the leisure centres from 
1st July 2021 in accordance with the Government announcement on 22 February 2021 
and in accordance with Procurement Policy Note 02/20 (Supplier Relief Due to 
Coronavirus). 
 
 

9. Extension to Coronavirus Act Protections from Evictions for Crawley 
Homes  
 
The Cabinet Member for Housing presented report DCE/08 of the Deputy Chief 
Executive.  The report sought approval to replicate the protections provided by the 
Coronavirus Act 2020 for Crawley Homes stock for a further 12 months, following the 
economic impact of Covid-19 upon Crawley, and the potential of further economic and 
social impact upon the town. 
 
Councillor T Belben presented the Overview and Scrutiny Commission’s comments 
on the report to the Cabinet following consideration of the matter at its meeting on 28 
June 2021, which included that the rent arrears were currently at a similar level to 
those at the commencement of the pandemic and it was hoped with the end of 
furlough that this level will not increase dramatically. 
 
Councillor Crow was invited to speak on the item and raised some concerns on the 
proposal. 
 
Councillors Lamb, Jhans, and C Mullins spoke as part of the discussion on the report, 
as did Councillor Fiveash who spoke passionately over why he was a strong advocate 
for the further extension of the eviction protection.  
 
 
RESOLVED 
 
That the Cabinet agrees that, for all Crawley Homes tenancies, to replicate the 
protections for evictions as set out in the Coronavirus Act 2020, until 31 May 2022. 
 
 
Reasons for the Recommendations 
 
The recommendation recognises the scale of economic hardship being faced by the 
town as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic, and the subsequent financial hardship this 
will cause for many local households.  It is widely recognised that Crawley has been 
harder hit than most other places in the country and the administration therefore 
believes that additional protection is required.  
 
Whilst the Council does not have the ability to legislate for the town as a whole, it is 
able to make decisions around tenancies within its own housing units.  This decision 
would therefore extend these protections for Crawley Homes residents for a further 12 
months beyond that set out in the Coronavirus Act 2020.  

Page 9

 3
 M

in
ut

es

Agenda Item 3

https://democracy.crawley.gov.uk/documents/s18415/Leisure%20Contract%20-%20Extension%20of%20Variation%20Order.pdf
https://democracy.crawley.gov.uk/documents/s18416/Extension%20to%20Coronavirus%20Act%20Protections%20from%20Evictions%20for%20Crawley%20Homes.pdf


Cabinet (6) 
30 June 2021 

 

 
 

10. Temporary Accommodation Modular Housing Solution  
 
The Cabinet Member for Housing presented report SHAP/81 of the Head of Strategic 
Housing Services.  The report requested that the Cabinet approves the delegated 
authority for officers to progress with the procurement of a modular housing solution 
for the provision of urgently needed temporary accommodation, to negotiate and 
complete all relevant legal documentation, and for the appropriate delegation required 
for the Leader to enter into the necessary contracts. 
 
Councillor T Belben presented the Overview and Scrutiny Commission’s comments 
on the report to the Cabinet following consideration of the matter at its meeting on 28 
June 2021, which included: 

 Further explanation provided on the structure, standard and assembly of the 
modular units. 

 Confirmation provided that the scheme and sites would require planning 
permission and need to abide by the usual planning considerations.  There was 
support for the consultation with relevant ward members. 

 Recognition that sites had not been yet been identified but consultation with ward 
members would take place at an appropriate stage of the site identification 
process.  It was noted that the sites and locations should aim to create a space to 
improve physical and mental wellbeing. 

 
Councillor C Mullins spoke as part of the discussion on the report including 
commenting that he had been with Councillor Irvine to a site visit to see some 
examples of the proposed modular housing solution, and commented that the 
products were impressive and allayed any concerns he might have had over the 
quality of the proposed temporary accommodation solution.  
 
 
RESOLVED 
 
That the Cabinet: 
 
a) delegates authority to the Head of Strategic Housing Services, following 

discussion with any relevant Ward Councillors and in consultation with, and 
agreement in-principle from the Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for 
Housing to identify suitable sites.  (Generic Delegation 7 will be used to enact 
this recommendation) 

 
b) delegates authority to the Head of Strategic Housing Services to progress with 

procurement to address the need for temporary accommodation.  (Generic 
Delegation 7 will be used to enact this recommendation). 

 
c) delegates authority to the Leader of the Council in consultation with the Cabinet 

Member for Housing, Head of Strategic Housing Services, Head of Legal, 
Governance and HR to approve the award of the contract following an 
appropriate procurement process. 

 
d) delegates the negotiation, approval and completion of all relevant legal 

documentation, following the awarding of the contracts to the Head of Strategic 
Housing Services, Head of Legal, Governance and HR, Head of Corporate 
Finance, in consultation with the Leader of the Council and the Cabinet Member 
for Housing.  (Generic Delegations 2 & 3 will be used to enact this 
recommendation) 

Page 10

 3
 M

in
ut

es

Agenda Item 3

https://democracy.crawley.gov.uk/documents/s18417/Temporary%20Accommodation%20Modular%20Housing%20Solution.pdf


Cabinet (7) 
30 June 2021 

 

 
 

 
Reasons for the Recommendations 
 
The Council currently has 265 households in temporary accommodation, with 97 of 
these presently in nightly paid accommodation, including 26 out of borough 
placements.  This represents the highest level of need and demand for temporary 
accommodation across the County.  These levels will inevitably rise significantly with 
the lifting of the ban on evictions. 
 
The average cost of nightly paid accommodation to the council per household per 
week is £211.50 equating to £21,154.00 per week for current numbers (rent arrears 
and ineligibility for benefits not included in this figure).  There are also the additional 
costs and burdens on Housing Benefit to process and pay the associated claims.  
 
Nightly paid temporary accommodation is the most expensive and least desirable 
form of accommodation, particularly where there are children in the household and as 
a result, such households can only be placed into this type of accommodation in an 
emergency, and then only for a maximum period of six weeks. 

 
A raft of measures are being progressed both locally and at a county-wide level to 
reduce the pressure on nightly paid accommodation.  This report is focused on one of 
these work strands, namely the modular housing solution with its rapid pace of 
delivery.  

 
The Council has recently secured £600k capital funding from the Government towards 
the provision of 10 additional units as part of a temporary housing pathway to support 
the prevention of homelessness and rough sleeping. Linked to this capital grant is a 
further £240k in revenue funding that has been awarded over a 3-year period to 
provide wrap around support services.  The grant conditions require these units to be 
delivered within the current financial year or this funding will be lost. 

 
Due to the volumetric design concept of modular housing, it is necessary to first select 
the particular modular provider.  The scheme is then designed in accordance with 
their volumetric design, and progressed through the planning process while gearing 
up the off-site construction.  A short period of on-site works then follows to complete 
the development.  The delegated authority being requested will enable Officers to 
progress this procurement, and for the Leader (in consultation with those mentioned 
in 2.2c) to award any contracts that will allow this initiative to derive the full benefits of 
fast-track housing delivery that modular housing offers. 

 
The selection of any particular modular housing provider will be procurement 
compliant, and the site selection and planning application will follow the usual internal 
and external consultation, and will be fully policy compliant, including meeting national 
space standards.  It will be delivered in accordance with an approved planning 
application, and to the high levels of efficiency and sustainability as is expected for 
Council housing. 
 
 

11. Forward Programme of Key Procurements (July - December 2021)  
 
The Leader presented report FIN/525 of the Head of Corporate Finance.  The report 
sought approval for the current forward programme of key procurements (over 
£500,000) and sought delegated authority for contract award approvals following the 
appropriate procurement process. The report also provided an update on the 
previously identified procurements from January - June 2021. 
 

Page 11

 3
 M

in
ut

es

Agenda Item 3

https://democracy.crawley.gov.uk/documents/s18418/Forward%20Programme%20of%20Key%20Procurements%20July%20-%20December%202021.pdf


Cabinet (8) 
30 June 2021 

 

 
 

 
RESOLVED 
 
That the Cabinet  
 
a) approves the procurement forward programme July – December 2021. 
  
b) delegates authority to the Leader of the Council in consultation with the relevant 

Cabinet Member, Opposition Leader, Head of Service, and Head of Legal, 
Governance and HR to approve the award of the contract following an 
appropriate procurement process 

 
c) delegates the negotiation, approval and completion of all relevant legal 

documentation, following the awarding of the contracts to the relevant Head of 
Service, Head of Legal, Governance and HR, Head of Corporate Finance, in 
consultation with the appropriate Cabinet Member.  (Generic Delegations 2 & 3 
will be used to enact this recommendation) 

 
 
Reasons for the Recommendations 
 
By approving the procurement forward programme there is greater transparency of 
future procurement processes allowing more scope for internal stakeholders to input 
into how future contracts are delivered. 
 
The approval of the forward programme provides a key decision that will enable the 
individual procurement processes to be awarded under delegated authority once the 
tender process has concluded giving the Council the ability to reduce the time 
required to complete a procurement process. 
 
 

12. Replacement Article 4 Directions (Class MA) in Main Employment Areas  
 
The Cabinet Member for Planning and Economic Development presented report 
PES/387 of the Head of Economy and Planning.  It was noted that the Government 
had recently revised the Use Class Order for England, and introduced a 
corresponding new permitted development right (Class MA) through amendments to 
the General Permitted Development Order (GPDO) 2015.  These changes would 
have implications for the Council’s existing Article 4 Directions at Manor Royal, 
Maidenbower Business Park, Lowfield Heath, Three Bridges Corridor, and Tilgate 
Forest Business Centre.  Therefore it was explained that if the Council wished to 
retain existing protections for those main employment areas, the current Directions 
would need to be replaced to take account of the amended GPDO. 
 
Councillors Crow and Burrett were invited to speak on the item.  In response to their 
questions it was confirmed that, whilst the proposal was for a 12 month notification 
period before it commences, the current Article 4 would run concurrently and end 
once the new proposed one starts.  
 
Councillor Lamb spoke in support of the recommendation. 
 
 
 

Page 12

 3
 M

in
ut

es

Agenda Item 3

https://democracy.crawley.gov.uk/documents/s18419/Replacement%20Article%204%20Directions%20Class%20MA%20in%20Main%20Employment%20Areas.pdf


Cabinet (9) 
30 June 2021 

 

 
 

RESOLVED 
 
That the Cabinet: 
 
a) approves the making of non-immediate Article 4 Directions under the Town and 

Country (General Permitted Development Order) 2015 (as amended) to remove 
the Class MA permitted development right for Commercial, Business & Service 
(E) to residential (C3) at the Main Employment Areas shown at Appendix A, 
these being: 

 
i. Manor Royal 
ii. Maidenbower Business Park 
iii. Lowfield Heath 
iv. Three Bridges Corridor 
v. Tilgate Forest Business Centre 

 
b) delegates authority to the Head of Economy and Planning in consultation with 

the Cabinet Member for Planning and Economic Development to formally 
confirm the non-immediate Article 4 Directions following the 12 month 
notification period, if having fully considered all representations made during the 
consultation period, they are of the opinion that the Article 4 Directions should 
be made. 

 
 

Reasons for the Recommendations 
 
Crawley is firmly established as one of the key economic drivers in the South East of 
England, representing the economic heart of the Gatwick Diamond and the wider 
Coast to Capital Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) area.  The COVID-19 pandemic 
has impacted substantially upon Crawley’s economy and, whilst it is anticipated that 
the local economy will respond positively to the current challenges, it is vital that the 
right conditions are in place to support recovery. 
 
There remains significant need for business land in Crawley, with the adopted 2015 
Local Plan identifying an overall need for 57.9ha new employment land in the period 
up to 2030.  However, with an available land supply pipeline of 23ha, there is a deficit 
of some 35ha business land.  The available business land has continued to reduce as 
sites are built out, and the land supply pipeline is currently 17.56ha, as per the 
Employment Land Trajectory (Base Date 1 September 2020).  To help meet 
Crawley’s employment needs, the Draft Submission (Reg. 19) Local Plan proposes 
the allocation of an industrial-led Strategic Employment Location at Gatwick Green, 
though in order to ensure a sufficient supply of employment land it is also critical to 
ensure that the function of borough’s existing Main Employment Areas (MEAs) are 
protected.  
 
Crawley has already lost around 61,500sqm of commercial space to residential 
development via permitted development rights, and the presence of amenity-sensitive 
residential uses in the MEAs can constrain remaining business operations and erode 
market confidence.  Some MEAs, for example Broadfield Business Park, have been 
undermined to such an extent by the introduction of residential uses that their overall 
employment function has effectively been lost.  Of further concern is that working 
MEAs are not a suitable location for people to live, resulting in an isolated and poor 
quality of life that is contrary to the planned nature of Crawley as a New Town. 
 
The Council has been selective in identifying the MEAs within which Article 4 
Directions apply, having made these only where they are necessary to protect local 

Page 13

 3
 M

in
ut

es

Agenda Item 3



Cabinet (10) 
30 June 2021 

 

 
 

amenity, the existing local business function and employment base and the well-being 
of the area.  The existing Article 4 Directions, whilst having helped address the 
concerns mentioned above, will not be effective against the new right for Use Class E 
(GPDO Class MA).  Should the council wish to retain the current protections made by 
these Article 4 Directions, it will be necessary to bring into force replacement 
Directions relating to the new Use Class E (GPDO Class MA) permitted development 
right.  This has been confirmed through legal advice.   
 
 

13. Urgent Action  
 
The Leader informed the Cabinet that urgent action had been taken under paragraph 
18.3 of the General Committee Procedure Rules of the Constitution in relation to the 
District Heat Network tariff ahead of the occupation of Geraint Thomas House.  This 
decision avoided the potential scenario of Geraint Thomas House being occupied 
without any heat tariff being in place.  
 
A further decision involved an additional discretional Council tax discount of up to 
£150.00 per household to be provided for working age Council tax reduction 
claimants.  This decision enabled the Council to start implementing an additional 
discount to help reduce the impact of the pandemic on residents in receipt of Council 
tax support as soon as possible. 
 
 

RESOLVED 
 
That Cabinet notes that urgent action had been taken under paragraph 18.3 of the 
General Committee Procedure Rules of the Constitution. 
 
 

14. Exempt Information – Exclusion of the Public (Subject to Agenda Item 5)  
 
 

RESOLVED 
 
That in accordance with Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the 
public be excluded from the meeting for the following item of business on the grounds 
that it involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Act by virtue of the paragraph specified against the item. 
 
 

15. Telford Place Development Opportunity  
 
Exempt Paragraph 3 – information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 
particular person (including the authority holding that information) 
 
 
The Cabinet Member for Housing presented report SHAP/82 of the Head of Strategic 
Housing Services.  The report requested Cabinet to consider a development proposal 
for the delivery of a policy-compliant mixed tenure affordable housing development, 
with the Council retaining the affordable rent quota of the scheme as intended in the 
previous procurement attempts. 
 
Councillor T Belben presented the Overview and Scrutiny Commission’s comments 
on the report to the Cabinet following consideration of the matter at its meeting on 28 

Page 14

 3
 M

in
ut

es

Agenda Item 3



Cabinet (11) 
30 June 2021 

 

 
 

June 2021, and in doing so highlighted that the Commission were putting forward a 
further recommendation for the Cabinet to consider, namely: 
  
That the Cabinet re-consider the level of parking proposed for this development, for 
the reasons provided in the Commission’s discussion. 
 
Councillors Crow and Burrett respectively were invited to speak on the item and in 
doing so acknowledged the Commission’s suggestion.  Councillor Crow also raised 
the matter of the large tree adjacent to the site and the potential impact the 
development might have on the tree. 
 
Councillors Lamb, P Smith, C Mullins and Irvine spoke during the discussion on the 
report and the Commission’s recommendation.  It was confirmed that the level of 
parking for a development was not decided by Cabinet and that would be addressed 
through the planning process and ultimately by the Planning Committee when 
considering the development’s planning permission.  Cabinet members understood 
the Commission’s concerns and felt it suitable to ask officers and the proposed 
developers to further investigate, as part of their ongoing work, as to whether the 
parking on the site could be increased and the tree could be preserved as part of the 
project.  During the debate on the item, it was conveyed that the Cabinet strongly 
hoped that the development of the site would come to fruition, after a number of failed 
attempts. 
 
 
RESOLVED 
 
That the Cabinet: 
 
a) approves the proposed procurement strategy towards achieving the objective of 

a policy-compliant residential development as detailed in section 5 of report 
SHAP/82. 
 

b) approves the development proposal for the purposes of delivering an affordable 
housing scheme, with the Council securing the affordable rent element, as 
detailed in section 6 of report SHAP/82. 

 
c) delegates authority to the Head of Strategic Housing Services, the Head of 

Corporate Finance and the Head of Legal, Governance & HR in consultation 
with the Leader of the Council and the Cabinet Member for Housing, to enter 
into the necessary contracts, and complete all relevant legal documentation to 
achieve the above recommendations. (Generic Delegation 2 and 3 will be used 
to enact this recommendation). 

 
d) in considering the Commission’s views, asks that officers and the developers 

consider ways, if possible, in which they can preserve the tree and increase the 
percentage of parking on the site. 

 
 
Reasons for the Recommendations 
 
The Council acquired the Telford Place site in 2015 for the purposes of developing a 
policy compliant residential scheme.  Following two attempts to procure a 
development partner the market has failed to perform, but the Council is now 
presented with the opportunity to progress the development of this site as an all 
affordable housing scheme. 
 

Page 15

 3
 M

in
ut

es

Agenda Item 3



Cabinet (12) 
30 June 2021 

 

 
 

 

16. Approval to Award a Contract for Professional Services (Architects) - 
Proposed Housing Sites  
 
Exempt Paragraph 3 – Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 
particular person (including the authority holding that information) 
 
 
The Cabinet Member for Housing presented report DCE/07 of the Deputy Chief 
Executive.  The report sought approval for the appointment of architects relative to a 
total of ten proposed housing sites across Crawley borough.  The proposed bidder 
would be sought via a desktop exercise, to identify small sites to understand their 
potential for development and the challenges and constraints that would be faced 
relating to developing those sites.  It was emphasised to the Cabinet that the 
proposed exercise did not mean that those sites would be brought forward for 
development, even though they were identified within the Crawley Local Plan.  
 
Councillors C Mullins, P Smith and Lamb spoke as part of the discussion on the 
report.   
 
 
RESOLVED 
 
That the Cabinet: 
 
a) subject to the mandatory standstill period, approves the appointment of Bidder 

‘A’ for the Professional Services Contract. 

 
b) delegates the negotiation, approval and completion of the all the relevant legal 

documentation and entering into the contract following the award to the Deputy 
Chief Executive, Head of Legal, Governance & HR, in consultation with the 
Cabinet Member for Housing. (Generic Delegation 2 and 3 will be used to enact 
this recommendation). 

 

 

Reasons for the Recommendations 

Following a tender exercise and evaluation process, Bidder ‘A’ has submitted the 
most economically advantageous tender and is therefore recommended for 
appointment.   
 
The appointment will further enable the Council to adapt to best deliver new housing 
within the context of constrained land supply and in its compiling of site specific 
information in accordance with Local Plan policies when bringing sites forward for 
housing.   
 
 
Closure of Meeting 

With the business of the Cabinet concluded, the Chair declared the meeting closed 
at 8.06 pm 

 
P K LAMB 

Chair 
 

 

Page 16

 3
 M

in
ut

es

Agenda Item 3



 

Crawley Borough Council 
 

Report to Overview and Scrutiny Commission 
6 September 2021 

 

Cabinet  
8 September 2021 

 

Petition “Keep your dog on a lead in Tilgate Park” 
 

Joint report of the Head of Community Services  
and Head of Legal, Governance & HR – the Petitions Officer, HCS/30 

 
1. Purpose 
 
1.1 The Council’s Petitions Officer received and accepted petition of 139 valid signatures 

entitled ‘Keep your dog on a lead in Tilgate Park’ and as such is required to be 
debated at the Overview and Scrutiny Commission, before their views are passed to 
the Cabinet as the relevant decision maker for their consideration and response. 

 
1.2 To help consider the petition in context, the report also provides evidence in 

response to Residents’ requests to provide clear on site signage and increase patrols 
to enforce dogs kept on leads at Tilgate Park (lake).   

 
 

2. Recommendations  
 
2.1 To the Overview and Scrutiny Commission: 
 

That the Commission consider, the petition, the statement of the petitioner and the 
background report and decide what comments, if any, it wishes to submit to the 
Cabinet for a decision and response to the Principal Petitioner.   

 
2.2 To the Cabinet: 
 

That the Cabinet considers the findings and any comments submitted by the 
Overview and Scrutiny Commission, along with the petition, the statement of the 
petitioner and the background report, in making its decision. 

 
 

3. Reasons for the Recommendations 
 
3.1 To ensure the procedure for petitions as detailed in the Council’s Constitution is 

adhered to. 
 
 

4. The Petition and the Procedure 

 
4.1 The Council’s Petitions Officer received an e-petition through the Council’s portal 

entitled Keep your dog on a lead in Tilgate Park.  

Page 17

 7
 P

et
iti

on
 –

 'K
ee

p 
yo

ur
 d

og
 o

n 
a 

le
ad

Agenda Item 7



 

4.2 The petition states as follows “Keep your dog on a lead in Tilgate Park” 
 
We the undersigned petition the council to increase signage and warden patrol 
around Tilgate lake to ensure dogs are kept on leads while walking around the lake. 
To implement enforcement of rules are not adhered too. 

 
My dog was attacked while walking around the lake by a dog that was not kept on its 
lead. The rules are clear on the website, however there isn’t sufficient signage and 
enforcement of rules for dog owners not adhering to the rules. Therefore increased 
presence of signage, policing and enforcement is required. 

 
4.3 On reviewing the petition and in line with the Council Petitions Scheme the petition 

was accepted with 139 valid signatures. As a result of the size of the petition it is sent 
to the Overview and Scrutiny Commission for their consideration and review. 
 

4.4 The petition along with view of the Commission is then submitted to the appropriate 
decision maker in this case the Cabinet for their consideration and responses. 
 

4.5 At both meetings the Principal Petitioner is entitled to address the Councillors over 
their petitions. In line with Committee Procedure Rules for both meetings, the 
Principal Petitioner will be invited to address the Cabinet or Committee for a 
maximum of 3 minutes on the issue. 

 
4.6 The Cabinet is required to provide the Principal Petitioner with written confirmation of 

their decision. The confirmation will also be published on the Council’s website within 
the minutes. 
 

 

5. Background behind the Petition 
 
5.1 The petition requests that the Council increases on site information signage and 

Community Warden patrols to inform and enforce the ‘rules’ stated on the Council’s 
website requiring dogs to be kept on leads in Tilgate Park, specifically around the 
lake.  
 

5.2 Tilgate Park is a regional destination park as well as a much loved local facility. 
Covering 162 hectares, the Green Flag accredited park welcomes around 1 million 
visitors a year and has been increasingly used throughout the Covid-19 pandemic. 
The management team have to balance the wide ranging needs of user groups, both 
human and animal.  
 

5.3 The council recognises that many dog owners who visit Tilgate Park are responsible; 
they keep their dog under control and exercise it in a manner that doesn’t cause 
distress to other park users. However, the council does have to deal with complaints 
each year about irresponsible ownership and the impact on the public. 

 
5.4 There are clear rules in place for Tilgate Park (displayed on the Council’s website) 

requiring “Dogs must be kept on a lead whilst walking around the main lake and are 
not permitted to enter the water”. Dogs are not permitted at all in the Nature Centre, 
Walled Garden or play area. 
 

5.5 Dogs are permitted off lead in all other areas of the park.  
 

5.6 This issue was previously explored in 2017 after concerns were raised by the Friends 
of Tilgate Park, in response to concerns about the protection of wildlife in the park, in 
particular nesting swans.  A public consultation took place which resulted in 146 

Page 18

 7
 P

et
iti

on
 –

 'K
ee

p 
yo

ur
 d

og
 o

n 
a 

le
ad

Agenda Item 7



 

external responses from park users who gave their views. 54% of responders were 
against a ‘dogs on leads’ policy and 46% supported its introduction. 

 
5.7 The Cabinet Member for Wellbeing subsequently agreed the introduction of a range 

of information/education measures focused around the lake area.   
 

5.8 Tilgate Park is one of several patrol ‘hotspots’ for the Community Warden Service, 
albeit their wide ranging priorities across the borough limit the regularity and duration 
of patrols. Community Wardens encourage members of the public to put their dog on 
a lead when they are out of control and / or causing nuisance to other park users 
however they do not enforce non-compliance.  
 

5.9 Signage requesting for dogs to be on leads is routinely removed and/or vandalised. 
 

   
6. Key Areas for Consideration 
 
6.1 The key areas for consideration are as follows: 
 

 Tilgate Park policy and rules state that dogs should be kept on leads around 
the lake. Other than a few specified areas, dogs are permitted off lead in most 
of the park’s 162 hectares.  

 

 A public consultation took place in 2017 which resulted in 146 external 
responses from park users who gave their views. The majority (54%) did not 
support a “dogs on leads” policy, although there was significant support for it to 
be introduced (46%). 
 

 Current policy, to educate/inform dog owners to put their dogs on leads, has 
largely been unsuccessful with signage repeatedly being removed or 
vandalised and community warden intervention often ignored. 

 

 So far in 2021, there have been 9 formal reports involving dogs off leads in 
Tilgate Park (8 Council & 1 police reports). Complaints typically relate to the 
lake area (and main lawn). Anecdotally, complaints on social media channels 
have increased and staff have witnessed dogs causing nuisance to other park 
users during their working day.  

 

 There have been 22 dog related reports made to Sussex Police over a three 
year period (2018 – 2021). As a comparison, 267 reports were made to Sussex 
Police over a similar timeframe when considering enforcement options for ASB 
relating to car cruising.  

 

 There are a range of options open to the Council, each with pros and cons. 
These include; 

o Maintain current position 
o Re-double education/information efforts 
o Introduce enforcement alongside education/information 

 
Each option has a resourcing and budgetary implication ranging from £0 to 
£3,500, assuming no increase to the Community Wardens establishment. 

 

 This issue has polarised opinion, as seen in the results of the public 
consultation in 2017. Moving to an enforcement model will penalise responsible 
dog owners although will act as a greater deterrent to those owners that do not 
have their dogs under control and cause nuisance to other park users. 

Page 19

 7
 P

et
iti

on
 –

 'K
ee

p 
yo

ur
 d

og
 o

n 
a 

le
ad

Agenda Item 7



 

 

 Enforcement will not stop all antisocial behaviour around the lake, it will, 
though, help act as a deterrent. 

 
 

7 Information & Analysis 

 
7.1 The Head of Community Services has consulted with the Head of Legal, Governance 

& HR regarding the issues raised. 
 
 Dogs in Tilgate Park - Rules / Byelaws 

 
7.2 Dogs are welcome in Tilgate Park and permitted in most areas, with the exception of 

the Walled Garden, Nature Centre, play area and in the lake itself. 
 
7.3 Rules on the Crawley Borough Council website state that;  

 Dogs must be kept on a lead whilst walking around the main lake and are not 
permitted to enter the water. 

 Dogs are not permitted in the Nature Centre, Walled Garden or play area 

7.4 Section 10 of The Byelaws for Goffs Park and Tilgate Park (1968) states that;  

  

7.5 The dogs on leads rule is robustly applied in the Walled Garden and Nature Centre, 
both supervised areas, and there is generally good compliance in the play area 
despite it being unsupervised.  

7.6 Dogs are permitted off lead in all other areas of the park (total site is approximately 
162 hectares).  

 
Consultation 
 

7.7 This issue was previously explored in 2017 in response to concerns about the 
protection of wildlife in the park, in particular nesting swans. A public consultation 
took place which resulted in 146 external responses from residents who gave their 
views. The majority (54%) did not support a “dogs on leads” policy, although there 
was strong support for it to be introduced (46%). The results of the consultation can 
be found at Appendix A. 

 
7.8 The Cabinet Member for Wellbeing subsequently agreed the introduction of a range 

of information / education measures focused on the main lake area;     
 

 Placement of signage encouraging the public to keep their dogs on leads 

 Focused patrols by the Community Wardens service, encouraging the public 
to keep their dogs on leads 

 Production and distribution of an education leaflet for dog owners  

 Exploration of enforcement options available to the Council including a Public 
Space Protection Order (PSPO)  

 Exploration of dedicated secure space to exercise dogs off leads 

Page 20

 7
 P

et
iti

on
 –

 'K
ee

p 
yo

ur
 d

og
 o

n 
a 

le
ad

Agenda Item 7

https://crawley.gov.uk/culture/parks-and-open-spaces/gardens-and-parks/tilgate-park/plan-your-visit


 

Effectiveness of current/historic approaches 
 

7.9 Information signage placed around the lake encouraging the public to keep their dogs 
on leads has repeatedly and routinely been removed or vandalised.  
 

7.10 An information leaflet designed to educate dog owners was produced in 2017/18 and 
distributed by the Community Wardens during a period of focused daily patrols 
between February and June 2018. These patrols were largely unsuccessful due to 
the reluctance of many dog walkers to comply. The ongoing removal of signage led 
to a lack of understanding by dog owners about what was allowed and where, 
making challenge difficult. The lack of enforcement option was also problematic in 
securing compliance.  

 
7.11 Tilgate Park is now one of several patrol ‘hotspots’ for the Council’s Community 

Warden Service, albeit their wide ranging priorities across the borough limit the 
regularity and duration of patrols. Community Wardens encourage members of the 
public to put their dog on a lead when they are deemed out of control and / or 
causing nuisance to other park users however they do not enforce non-compliance. 
The service respond to incidents of antisocial behaviour within core service hours 
(08:00 – 21:30, seven days a week), however any concerns relating to possible 
criminal activity should be reported to the police.  

 
7.12 ‘Hound Ground’ a dedicated exercise space for dogs, opened at Tilgate Park in 2021 

however it was temporarily closed soon after as a precautionary measure on safety 
grounds. Solutions are currently being explored and the facility remains closed.  
 

7.13 Officers previously explored the enforcement options available to the Council, 
including Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO). The Council has successfully 
implemented PSPOs to address anti-social behaviour issues relating to car cruising 
and consumption of alcohol in public places. This has not been pursued for dog 
related matters prior to now because of the preference for an incremental approach 
to managing the issue, focusing primarily on education of dog walkers. There is also 
a requirement for any PSPO to be supported by strong evidence of need.  

 
 What evidence do we have? 

 
7.14 Formally reported incidents and complaints to the Council relating to nuisance dogs 

at Tilgate Park are relatively low (8 since December 2020), and largely focus on dogs 
not being under control and causing annoyance/distress to others, interfering with 
picnics or over inquisitiveness. There are also complaints relating to interference with 
wildlife on the lake. Examples of the complaints that have been received can be 
found at Appendix B. 

 
7.15 There have been 22 dog related reports made to Sussex Police over a three year 

period, one of which was made in 2021. 14 complaints (63%) involved a dog off lead, 
including the report made in 2021. A breakdown of the report “types” are shown 
below. As a comparison, 267 reports were made to Sussex Police over a similar 
timeframe when considering enforcement options for ASB relating to car cruising.  

 
 Dog v Dog     2 reports 

Dog v Human    3 reports (in 2 instances “over excited” dogs) 
 Dog v Wildlife   3 reports (1 swan, 1 deer, 1 not clear dogs involved) 
 Out of Control/Dangerous  2 reports 
 Other    4 reports 

 
 

Page 21

 7
 P

et
iti

on
 –

 'K
ee

p 
yo

ur
 d

og
 o

n 
a 

le
ad

Agenda Item 7



 

7.16 Anecdotally, the parks team have witnessed incidents where dogs have been off 
lead, interfered with another park user(s) and not responded to owners command. 
Whilst the dogs in these instances have not typically behaved aggressively, they 
have been a nuisance and on occasion caused annoyance/distress to young 
children/other park users. They have also noticed an increase in comments on social 
media about nuisance dogs.  

 
 Where and when are issues arising? 

 
7.17 The complaints are typically focused on the lake and main lawn area. To significantly 

extend the scope of the dogs on leads policy in terms of geographic coverage could 
be disproportionate to the issue identified in the petition and the evidence available. It 
is also important to note that Tilgate Park is a vast site covering over 160 acres and it 
would be impossible to patrol and enforce the entire estate effectively with current 
resources. Complaints are received all year round.  

 
 Options for consideration 
 
7.18 There are three broad options that have been considered which are set out below. 

These focus on the lake area in Tilgate Park in line with the petition, although if the 
policy coverage expands then the associated resource would need to expand 
proportionately. Pros & cons for each option can be found at Appendix C. 

 
7.19 Option 1: Maintain current position 
 

 Sporadic patrols by Community Wardens 
 Challenge and encourage owners where dogs appear out of control / dogs 

causing nuisance OR could challenge all dogs off leads 
 Replace temporary signage intermittently 
 
The additional resource implications for this option are negligible with related costs 
already managed within existing budgets. This option would not require resources to 
be diverted from other priority work.  

 
 
7.20 Option 2: Re-double education / information efforts 
 

 Install more robust signage (vandal proof) 
 Implement Communication Plan incl. Social media & park based campaign  
 Dedicated daily Community Warden Patrols (2 – 6* hours per day)  
 Challenge and encourage owners of dogs off leads  

 
* depends on shift patterns / numbers on shift / other priorities but minimum of 2 hrs per day at key 

times is possible within existing resource.  
 

There are resource implications for this option. The cost of signage (purchase, 
installation and replacement) is approximately £3,500. There is no provision for this 
expenditure within current budgets. There is also an impact on the Community 
Wardens team. By committing to dedicated daily patrols at Tilgate Park, it would see 
Wardens diverted from other priority work OR require additional resource. The 
patrols can of course include other priorities such as littering enforcement.  The cost 
of a FTE post is approximately £27,500 per annum.  

  
 
 
 
 

Page 22

 7
 P

et
iti

on
 –

 'K
ee

p 
yo

ur
 d

og
 o

n 
a 

le
ad

Agenda Item 7



 

7.21 Option 3: Option 2 + Enforcement  
 

 Introduce preferred enforcement approach (CBC Byelaws / Public Spaces 
Protection Order (PSPO) / Community Protection Notice (Warning) 

  
As well as those already identified in section 7.20, there are additional resourcing 
implications for this option, however these differ according to which approach is 
adopted.  This is considered in the section below. It is important to manage public 
expectation because the enforcement options are reliant on officers (Council and 
Police) with the relevant authority being present to witness the infringement.  

7.22 The enforcement options available to the Council are as follows;  

 
Public Spaces Protection Orders (PSPOs) 

 
A PSPO is designed to address unreasonable and persistent behaviour that affects 
the quality of life of a local authority’s residents.  PSPOs last for 3 years unless 
extended before they expire.  PSPOs can only be made where the Council is 
satisfied on reasonable grounds (i.e. there is evidence demonstrating): 

 

 that there has been (or it is likely to be) activities carried on in a public place 
which have had (or are likely to have) a detrimental effect on the quality of life of 
those in the locality,  

 

 the effect (or likely effect) of the activities: 
o is (or is likely to be) of a persistent or continuing nature, 
o is (or is likely to be) such as to make the activities unreasonable.  
o justifies the restrictions imposed. 

 
Pros 

 
 Once made, enforcement can be via Fixed Penalty Notice (immediate). 

 
Cons 

 
 Cannot be made if there is not an evidence base to meet the statutory threshold. 
 Lengthy and resource-intensive to make a PSPO, including public consultation (6 

month process) 
 If FPN is not paid, prosecution is the next step which can be lengthy and is 

resource-intensive. 
 Resources required for enforcement (personnel on the ground required). 

 
 
Byelaws 

 
These are local rules made by local authorities but approved by central government 
which are enforceable as criminal offences. 

 
Byelaws are quite an old fashioned way of dealing with local public order rules and 
parliament has indicated that matters such as the control of dogs ought to be dealt 
with under the new types of orders which it has created – the current one being 
PSPOs which replaced dog control orders.   

 
It therefore appears that in practice the legal route to making byelaws relating to dogs 
is effectively closed and should CBC make byelaws and seek to have them 

Page 23

 7
 P

et
iti

on
 –

 'K
ee

p 
yo

ur
 d

og
 o

n 
a 

le
ad

Agenda Item 7



 

confirmed by the Secretary of State (the procedure to make them valid), we may find 
that this request is refused leading to wasted effort, time and expense. 

 
Community Protection Notices (CPNs) 

 
CPNs can be served if satisfied on reasonable grounds that: 

 

 The conduct of the person is having a detrimental effect, of a persistent or 
continuing nature, on the quality of life of those in the locality, and 

 the conduct is unreasonable. 
 

However, there are preconditions to service of a CPN, which are: 
 

 a written warning must first have been given to the person stating that the CPN 
will be issued unless the person’s conduct ceases to have the detrimental effect, 
and 

 the officer is satisfied that, despite the person having had enough time to deal 
with the matter, their conduct is still having that effect. 

 
Pros 

 
 Could be useful for repeat offenders if they can be identified. 
 Enforcement can be via FPN (immediate). 
 Reasonably straightforward and quick to introduce. 

 
Cons 

 
 Somewhat impractical for ‘on the spot’ one-off enforcement as written warnings 

are required. 
 If a person does not provide their identity it would be very difficult, if not possible, 

to enforce without police assistance. 
 If FPN not paid, prosecution is the next step which can be lengthy and is 

resource-intensive. 
 Resources required for enforcement (personnel on the ground required) 

 
7.23 Whilst this legislation is not part of the consideration for this petition, it is useful to 

note the Dangerous Dogs Act 1991, section 3, requires that dogs must not be 
allowed to be ‘dangerously out of control’, which means injuring someone or making 
someone fear they may be injured. This applies to any breed or type of dog. This is 
usually enforced by the Police.  Guidance from DEFRA states that “this section should 
only be used in the most serious incidents”.  

 

8 Implications 
  
8.1 The Council is under pressure to meets its obligation to deliver a balanced budget 

and any commitment to increase patrols and/or enforcing a “dogs on leads” policy at 
Tilgate Park would likely need to come from existing resources, diverting resource 
from other priority work.  

 
8.2 Revenue resource, in the region of £3,500, would be required to invest in permanent 

signage in key locations. An additional FTE Community Warden would cost £27,500 
per annum.  
 

8.3 There would be legal costs associated with enforcement policy related prosecutions 
although full costs would be sought from the courts in the case of a successful 
prosecution.  

Page 24

 7
 P

et
iti

on
 –

 'K
ee

p 
yo

ur
 d

og
 o

n 
a 

le
ad

Agenda Item 7

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/69263/dogs-guide-enforcers.pdf


 

 
8.4 Any decision taken is likely to polarise opinion, as seen by the results of the public 

consultation in 2017. Moving to an enforcement model will penalise responsible dog 
owners although will act as a greater deterrent to those owners that do not have their 
dogs under control and cause nuisance to other park users.  
 

8.5 There are no equalities impacts because assistance dogs are exempt from the dogs 
on leads policy and any associated enforcement. 

 

9 Background Papers 
 

None 
 
 
 
Report author and contact officer: 
Kate Wilson, Head of Community Services  
Siraj Choudhury, Petition Officer & Head of Legal, Governance & HR 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 25

 7
 P

et
iti

on
 –

 'K
ee

p 
yo

ur
 d

og
 o

n 
a 

le
ad

Agenda Item 7



 

Appendix A 
 

Responses to 2017 Consultation 
 
146 responses received 
46% supported the dogs on leads policy around the lake 
54% did not support the dogs on leads policy around the lake 

 
 

Post 
Code 

Do you 
use 
Tilgate 
Park to 
walk 
your 
dog 

Do you 
think 
there 
should 
be a 
dogs 
on lead 
policy 
around 
the 
lake 

Additional comments 

RH10 YES NO Breed and size of dog 

RH10 YES NO My dog is only small.  Leads should be on bigger 
dogs 

RH10 YES NO Depends on size and breed of dog 

RH10 YES NO My dogs wouldn't hurt a swan she's too small 

RH11 YES NO Maybe during breeding season 

RH12 YES NO Restrictions if needed 

RH10 YES NO Have notices when needed.  Put on swans close to 
protect dog and swans 

RH10 YES NO How would it be enforced 

RH10 YES NO Should be down to individual dog owners discretion 

RH10 YES NO Dependant on owner 

RH11 YES NO Down to owner 

Page 26

 7
 P

et
iti

on
 –

 'K
ee

p 
yo

ur
 d

og
 o

n 
a 

le
ad

Agenda Item 7



 

RH11 YES NO Down to owner 

RH10 YES NO Owner fault 

RH11 YES NO Punish irresponsible owners not everyone else 

RH10 YES NO Dogs should be under control 

RH12 YES NO My dog is trained 

BN13 YES NO Owner responsibility 

RH10 YES NO As long as owners can keep dogs under control 

RH2 YES NO Should depend on dog and if under control by owner 

RH10 YES NO Unfair to responsible owners 

RH10 YES NO Unfair to responsible owners 

RH10 YES NO Not all dogs are vicious 

RH10 YES NO Not all dogs are attackers 

RH10 YES NO Not everyone should be punished 

BN3 YES NO It’s a lovely place to let dogs run free 

RH11 YES NO safe area to allow dogs off lead 

RH10 YES NO will go somewhere else if enforced 

RH10 YES NO will go somewhere else if enforced 

RH10 YES NO 
 

RH10 YES NO 
 

RH6 YES NO Only the unruly dogs 

RH11 YES NO don’t punish everyone 

RH10 YES NO Unfair to responsible owners 

RH10 YES NO Unfair to responsible owners 

RH10 YES NO my dog hates being on lead 

RH10 YES NO Unfair to responsible owners 

RH10 YES NO unfair to punish everyone 

RH10 YES NO Unfair to responsible owners 

RH11 YES NO Unfair 

RH10 YES NO Unfair 

RH10 YES NO Unfair 

RH10 YES NO Unfair 

RH10 YES NO Unfair 

RH10 YES NO Unfair 

RH10 YES NO unfair on others 

RH11 YES NO only place I will let my dog off lead 

RH10 YES NO Unfair 

RH10 YES NO Unfair 

RH11 YES NO unfair to treat all the same 

RH10 YES NO Unfair 

RH10 YES NO Unfair 

RH10 YES NO unfair to others 

RH10 YES NO not fair to responsible dog owners 

U/K YES NO All dog owners should not be punished for the few 
that have aggressive dogs that attack wildlife.   

U/K YES NO I love to walk around tilgate and often my dog is on 
or off the lead depending on how busy it is.  It would 
be a great shame … 

Page 27

 7
 P

et
iti

on
 –

 'K
ee

p 
yo

ur
 d

og
 o

n 
a 

le
ad

Agenda Item 7



 

U/K YES NO I walk my dog around the lake with my children.  My 
dog with well behaved .  Tilgate is the only place I 
can take the three of them and walk like this. If there 
was a dog on the lead rule around the lake he 
wouldn't get enough exercise.  I also run with him 
and he can dip in to cool off in the water.  an on the 
lead rule would be impossible to police and only 
punishes good dog owners 

U/K YES NO Dogs should be allowed to be off lead.  My dog has 
never caused any problems.  I walk and run with him 
and he loves to swim in the lake 

U/K YES NO Dogs off lead please my Lab would never hurt a fly 
and loves her walks at Tilgate off lead 

U/K YES NO A well trained dog wouldn't go anywhere near those 
birds. Why penalise the majority for the few? 

U/K YES NO Dogs need to be off lead to exercise properly 
whether running around or walking beside you.  It is 
a sad fact that animal instinct kicks in sometimes 

U/K YES NO Dogs should not have to be on leads.  How can they 
swim in the lake on a lead.  I walk off the lead but put 
my dog back on lead near as we pass swans.  He 
needs to go into the lake to cool down in the 
summer.  Why should the irresponsible few spoil it 
for the majority.  It's the first year dogs have caused 
a death as far as I’m aware. 

BN3 YES NO 
 

RH10 YES NO 
 

RH10 YES NO 
 

RH10 YES NO 
 

BN3 YES NO 
 

RH10 YES NO 
 

RH10 YES NO 
 

RH10 YES NO 
 

RH11 YES NO 
 

RH10 YES NO Donald Campbell donated the park to Crawley 
residents.  Why do we have to pay for parking? 

RH10 YES YES Responsible owners won't mind 

RH10 YES YES Enough other places to walk off lead 

? YES YES Can walk up by woodland 

RH10 YES YES 
 

RH11 YES YES lots of dogs can be intimidating 

RH10 YES YES Yes on lead when close to lake 

RH10 YES YES Will help everyone not just wildlife - kids eldery 

RH10 YES YES Should not be allow in water 

RH11 YES YES Use extender lead if want more control 

RH11 YES YES only around the lake 

BN10 YES YES They should be better controlled 

RH11 YES YES Not all the way round 

Page 28

 7
 P

et
iti

on
 –

 'K
ee

p 
yo

ur
 d

og
 o

n 
a 

le
ad

Agenda Item 7



 

RH10 YES YES 
 

RH10  YES YES 
 

RH10 YES YES Around the lake only 

RH10 YES YES 
 

RH10 YES YES 
 

RH10 YES YES 
 

RH10 YES YES 
 

RH10 YES YES Mainly in summer 

RH16 YES YES 
 

 
YES YES Warden around Park, A patrolling areas at random 

times, making sure dogs are on leads and carrying 
poo bags.  Fine them 

RH10 YES YES well behaved dogs shouldn't be punished 

RH10 YES YES 
 

RH10 YES YES Need for more info when young wildlife about 

RH10 YES YES Depends on behaviour of the dog 

RH11 YES YES At discretion depending on breed 

RH11 YES YES Please make this happen 

RH10 YES YES 
 

RH10 YES YES Is this going to apply to other parts of the park or just 
lake 

RH10 YES YES I think all dogs should be on leads, not only for 
wildlife but for those who fear them 

U/K YES YES It’s a shame that a selfish few who cannot control 
their dogs has led to this.  I can't see how it will be 
enforced.  The respectful dog owners will abide 

U/K YES YES I always keep my dog on the lead in the park 
because he is a sight hound.  However if this is what 
it take to keep all the water birds safe then YES keep 
dogs on lead around the lake 

U/K YES YES Yes just keep on leads around the lake.  It's a shame 
but it’s an animal instinct kicking in sometimes.  If 
that's what it takes to protect wildlife it has to be done 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 29

 7
 P

et
iti

on
 –

 'K
ee

p 
yo

ur
 d

og
 o

n 
a 

le
ad

Agenda Item 7



 

Comments received to the Tilgate Park email address 
 

 Comment 

1 Hello 
I read the article about a public consultation regarding dogs being kept on leads 
in Tilgate Park. 
We walk our Labrador every day in the park, we let her off the lead as she loves 
to run around. We are very vigilant about where she goes and what she is 
doing, we would never allow her to injure an animal. There are not many places 
you can allow your dog to enjoy a good run and be free of the lead, we really 
appreciate the freedom she gets in the park.  
We hope that you do not take away this freedom because of irresponsible dog 
owners. 

2 It would be useful to have at least one park in Crawley that is entirely dog-
free.  There are so many places and parks in Crawley for dog owners to 
exercise their animals that it wouldn’t be a great imposition to bar them from one 
park, particularly when there have been several instances of dog attacks.  
Given that Tilgate Park has perhaps the highest proportion of vulnerable wildlife 
it might be a good idea to make this the ‘dog-free’ park. 

3 I wanted to share with you experiences that my wife has had whilst she runs 
around the lake in Tilgate about 3 to 4 times a week. 
She has been attacked a number of times by dogs this year that are off the lead 
where the owner has no control and seems to think it's just one of those things 
that the dog is allowed to run up and either jump up or even bite  My wife has 
had actual flesh wounds and damaged cloths, so we think it is a good idea for 
dogs to be kept on their leads around the lake.  If people want to let their dogs 
off their leads they can go up into the park area where there are less people and 
the dogs can run more freely. 
 

4 Dear Sirs 
I was very saddened to read of another swan being mauled to death by a dog in 
Tilgate Park. 
I am no longer a dog owner, but as an animal lover with a young grandson, 
whose dog was once attacked in Tilgate Park, I really can't see why there 
shouldn't be a rule that all dogs should be kept on lads in the Park. 
This would go a long way to ensuring the safety, not only of local wildlife, but 
also the many children who use the park. 
From responsible dog owners point-of-view,  you can now  get "stretchy" leads, 
which give dogs some degree of freedom, with the ability to control the dog if 
necessary. This would give the council the necessary powers to prosecute the 
tiny minority of irresponsible dog owners. 
Anyone who really wanted to let their dog off the lead could go up onto the 
remote areas of  the golf-course, as I used to when I had dogs. 

5 My mother and sister spoke to your colleague last Thursday about our puppy 
being attacked by another dog in Tilgate Park. With his request this is my 
statement. 
On Thursday 31st August, my family and I met up at Tilgate Park, 4 adults and 3 
children.  
At 1.30 pm ,we were walking in the natural woods at the side of the walled area 
where the Maze and Cafe are situated. My son had our puppy on the lead and 
was walking about 10 metres ahead of us with his two younger cousins.It was at 
this point he saw a female dog walker approaching with 5 dogs on leads. She 
was wearing a blue jacket and had blondish short hair.  
My 11 year old son called over to her asking if her dogs were friendly, she 
confirmed they were, two of the very large long haired Golden Retrievers were 
already off their leads. My son said they did indeed appear to be friendly.  She 

Page 30

 7
 P

et
iti

on
 –

 'K
ee

p 
yo

ur
 d

og
 o

n 
a 

le
ad

Agenda Item 7



 

then apparently went about letting a third dog off its lead, this dog was a 
muzzled white English  Bull Terrier! The  Bull Terrier  immediately ran towards 
my 16 week old puppy and three children with myself and the other adults a 
short distance away, having not interacted with us at all. The Bull Terrier had a 
Beige muzzle and ran straight to our puppy and leaped on her. My son 
continued holding our dog`s lead and started screaming and shouting to get the 
dog off, which was proceeding to attack our puppy. It was at this point we were 
alerted to what was happening. My instinct was to run screaming towards them 
to scare the dog away followed by my sister and mum. At this point I didn't know 
if the dog had attacked any of the children! The Retrievers were bounding 
around and jumping up as well. When I reached my son I realised the dog was 
muzzled. Thank God otherwise it would have killed our puppy! It was ferociously 
trying to bite our puppy's neck through its muzzle and clawing at her upturned 
body. It was truly distressing and traumatic, the children had all witnessed this. I 
yanked the Bull Terrier off our puppy and tried to pick our puppy up . Her lead 
had now been dropped by my son and she took flight. luckily she ran into some 
thick undergrowth and we managed to catch her. She was in a right state and 
trembling. 
There was some shouting at the woman but we didn't think to take photos or 
details as we were all so shaken up. It was a very traumatic experience which 
has stayed with all of us for days. Very luckily our puppy seems to be okay at 
the moment but this has made her and us nervous around dogs off leads.  
Thank you for the time your colleague spent with my mother and sister the other 
day and I hope this email helps support you in resolving the issues you have 
been having with dog walkers that behave in an irresponsible way. 
Please let me know of any outcome from this. 

6 I saw the article in the Crawley Observer about the recent dog attacks on swans 
in Tilgate Park.  There are notices around the lake requesting dog owners to 
keep their pets under control and on leads but these are ignored by the majority 
of dog owners who take the attitude that it does not apply to them and their 
pet.  Following a recent heart attack and subsequent bypass surgery I regularly 
walk in park for exercise and have frequently been pestered by dogs jumping up 
at me.  The last time it happened I was left with muddy paw prints on my 
trousers and top.  A young lady did apologise but it is these sort of people who 
think it acceptable for their badly behaved dog to run wild.  There is a grassy 
area where dogs can be let off the lead but on and around the pathways they 
must be kept on a short lead. 

7 Hi there,  
I often run around Tilgate lake and last year witnessed the two tiny signets being 
mauled and both killed by a dog! It was very upsetting and sad to see.  
Me and my friend who was running with me helped the lady hold her two dogs 
away whilst she tried to save the signets but it was too late! The owner was very 
upset and said it was out of character for her dogs but I disagree. Dogs are 
predictors and as lovely and friendly as they might normally be they will chase 
after little animals, it's not their fault!  
I therefore totally agree that dogs should be kept on leads around the lake area. 
Dog owners need to realise that although their dogs maybe nice natured, calm 
and loving family members, they are animals and they can chase and attack 
smaller animals and that's just not acceptable when they are so often killed or 
badly injured!  
I hope the 'dogs on leads' rule at areas around the lake is put into place as soon 
as possible to stop these unnecessary attacks from continuing!  

8 To Whom It May Concern, 
I just want to say a few words in support of dogs on leads.  
Not only does the wildlife but also our children need protection. My family had 
horrible experience with off the lead dog. It bit my 3-year-old daughter at Tilgate 

Page 31

 7
 P

et
iti

on
 –

 'K
ee

p 
yo

ur
 d

og
 o

n 
a 

le
ad

Agenda Item 7



 

Park this summer. Crime reference - xxxxxxx. I am sure that this is not an 
isolated incident therefore something must be done.  
Maybe putting all dogs on leads is not an ideal solution,  alternative 
options like dog muzzles or a fenced play area specifically designed for dogs 
should be considered.  
Thank you for looking into ways of keeping the wildlife and our families safe at 
our favorite local park. 

9 I am horrified at the mauling of another swan by a dog without a lead, what are 
their owners thinking of to allow this to happen.   If it had been a child the dog 
went for would the result be the same, I wonder. 
I really do think that dogs should be on a lead, even a long lead, in this park 
since the birds are not safe and so many families comes with many children, 
and I hope that something will be done about this since I understand that the 
dog was seen. 

10 Dogs should be on leads. Over the years  I've lived near by the cygnet's get 
attacked .Its very upsetting.     

11 I would like to see dogs on leads around tilgate lake as I find dogs mauling 
swans upsetting. I realise a lot og dogs do not go after swans or the other birds . 
I go to tilgate park on my scooter and enjoy riding slowly around the lake and 
enjoy watching dogs walking with their owners but this has been to upsetting for 
a lot of us 

12 Mr husband and I were deeply shocked and saddened to read in Crawley 
Observer that a third cygnet had died from horrific injuries after being mauled by 
dogs in Tilgate Park. 
On our walks in Tilgate Park, we had been delighted to watch 7 cygnets grow 
from tiny chicks into beautiful cygnets. In previous years, cygnets had 
disappeared but this time we were glad to still count 7 cygnets until last month, 
first one, then three went missing – now we know the reason. 
The horror of reading that the male parent swan was attacked and gladly saved 
was followed by warning/appeal notices to keep dogs on leads but 
apparently these requests were ignored and now only 4 cygnets remain! 
As swans are supposed to have Royal protection; perhaps this could be 
regarded as Treason with apt sentences for disregarding a Royal Rule? 
The request for support of a rule that all dogs MUST be kept on leads is 
certainly needed and should include punishment or high fines for disre- garding: 
Dogs should also be discouraged from swimming near swans: 
Tilgate Park is a wonderful place for all to enjoy its multifarious outdoor 
pleasures: The lovely lake is enhanced by wildlife, particularly the grace- 
graceful swans:  Midst tumultuous traumatic evens in the World today; it is a 
Blessings to have a place of beauty and tranquillity to share.  
We are sure most park visitors will support a law that prohibits dogs to be 
allowed off leads in Tilgate Park. Another rule to help pedestrians to enjoy a 
peaceful walk, would be to ensure cyclists use bells on bikes and that they take 
extra care when cycling on paths - intended for pedestrians: 
Most people we meet in Tilgate Park are charmingly friendly and surely will be 
dismayed and horrified to know of the fate of those dear cygnets. 

13 How many more of the wildlife in Tilgate are to be attacked and killed by dogs 
running loose? The signs displayed this summer have been totally ignored by 
some irresponsible dog owners who do not seem to understand that control 
means dogs should be kept on a lead. 
Many times when walking in Tilgate we have had dogs, sometimes wet, coming 
and jumping up at us leaving our clothes wet and muddy. The usual comment 
from the owners is “it is alright he/she will not hurt you”. 
The Council must take action or are they waiting for a  small child to be attacked 
by a out of control dog? 

Page 32

 7
 P

et
iti

on
 –

 'K
ee

p 
yo

ur
 d

og
 o

n 
a 

le
ad

Agenda Item 7



 

Tilgate Park is a wonderful place where many birds nest bringing up their young 
for people to enjoy. 
The Council must act now. 

14 I am a dog walker who walks his dogs in the park on a daily basis. Having avidly 
watched these birds grow it was desperately upsetting to hear that one has 
been killed by a dog, I understand another fell fowl of discarded fishing tackle 
recently too. With the male parent having also been attacked by dogs earlier this 
year I feel it would be most sensible to establish an on the lead area in the park 
I do have a couple of queries.... firstly how is this to be enforced. As it stands it 
is very rare to see any form of Warden around the lakes. Will additional patrols 
be put on? 
Secondly given the number of bodies of water where birds and indeed other 
wildlife reside would it not be simpler to introduce an on lead rule for the whole 
park east of the Tilgate huts down to trees on the west side of the lake.. this 
would simplify the matter of where the on lead zone begins and provides a 
sufficient buffer to protect wildlife, it would also prevent deer being chased within 
the area. 
As a counter point to the on lead restrictions could not an enclosed off lead area 
be provided for dogs... that way those owners wishing the let their dogs run 
could do so in a controlled environment . Just above the top car park, by the 
Smith and Western there is a fenced enclosure which seems to be rarely used... 
it is a good size and would offer a safe area for dogs to be exercised off lead 
with little modification other than a suitable gate... many areas have 
implemented these, Withdean Park being a notable example. 

15 I am writing to voice my opinion that there should be a dogs on leads policy 
around the area of Tilgate lake where the swan family spends most of their time 
on the opposite side of the lake from the Smith & Western. 
This is already signposted, but nobody pays attention to it.  
Perhaps it would be worth a gate across the path or something in order to help 
differentiate the areas?  
If this is not possible, then perhaps a dog on lead policy during cygnet season, 
at least during the busy parts of the days when dogs can get excitable if there 
are many around.  
In my opinion, the cygnet being killed is a lesson that should be learned from, 
and acted upon. How many near misses have there been which go 
unreported...? 
It would have to be enforced (on the spot fines?) and without a gate or if it 
cannot be localised, then the policy should cover the lake. At the end of the day, 
it is the swans' home, not the dogs'. 

16 As a dog owner and walker, I strongly believe that dogs should not be made to 
be on lead at the park. The additional effort should go on educating users on the 
safety of all at the park. 

17 We have a large German Shepherd Dog called XXXX and he regularly attends 
the park with me, my partner and our family.  
We have heard about this dogs on lead business and if you go forward with it 
then it would be a great shame.  
Everyone is being punished for a handful of irresponsible owners over many 
years. It’s no proportionate.  
I have been reading Facebook comments on Spotted:Crawley Facebook page 
and people are making very good points.  
I also work for Sussex Police as an Investigator, at Crawley Police Station and 
have dealt with many dog bite cases. So I have a good perspective on this.  
The only people to follow a dogs on lead policy are the ones whose dog’s are 
not a problem anyway. The good owners would follow the policy and watch as 
the ones causing all the problems still do not follow the rules and get away with 
it.  

Page 33

 7
 P

et
iti

on
 –

 'K
ee

p 
yo

ur
 d

og
 o

n 
a 

le
ad

Agenda Item 7



 

How are you planning to enforce this?   

18 I wholeheartedly support the suggestion of a dogs on leads policy at Tilgate 
Park. The loss of another cygnet proves that, whilst there are some responsible 
dog owners who exercise their dogs in the park, there are still some (hopefully a 
minority) that do not control their animals. Sadly this means that all dog owners 
responsible of otherwise have lost their right to have dogs off leads. 
As a regular visitor to the park, I regularly see dogs away from their owners, 
approaching small children, animals, other dogs. I have also witnessed dogs 
going to the toilet out of the eyesight of the owner and the mess not being 
picked up simply because the owner is not aware that it has been left. 
There are many outside spaces where responsible dog owners can let their 
animals off the lead but somewhere as busy, beautiful and family oriented as 
Tilgate Park, should not be one of them. 

19 Personally I would support a dogs on leads policy.  It's not just the swans but it 
is known that dogs, even on leads, have a detrimental  
effect on breeding birds in general.   Dogs on leads during the  
breeding season, say March to September, seems to be a reasonable 
compromise. 
There would probably need to be two designated areas; 1 from a few meters 
upstream from the main spillway to the silt dam spillway and 2. from the turnoff 
from the path between the lakes to near the main lawn. 
This would need to be signed and would work best if people had to  
walk through a gate at either end.   (The gated area at Buchan Park  
seems to work well).   All a pain I'm sure you could do without. 
I wonder if there is any potential for using the old horse paddock as a run 
around area for dogs? 

20 I believe dogs should be put on leads in and around tilgate, not only for the poor 
swans but for children like my son who is 5 and refuses to visit tilgate park as he 
is petrified of dogs, if people want a free run area for their dog maybe a fenced 
area could be put up for these dogs Martine Barnes  

21 I've just seen your post about thoughts on dogs on lead around the lake 
following the poor cygnet losing its life. 
I personally think that around the lake only, it should be "on leads". 
I'm a dog owner & I have 2 reactive dogs. So mine are always on a lead. But I'm 
a true believer in if your dog is near wildlife, then pop it on a lead til you are 
passed it & at a safe distance. 
I also don't think that it's the answer to the problem. I can't see how you will 
police this.  
It will end up with the responsible owners being on leads & the irresponsible 
ones that caused this in the 1st place will still be off lead as they don't think rules 
apply to them!  
Having 2 reactive dogs, I know 1st hand just how irresponsible many owners 
can be. Mine are on a lead & so many people think it's ok to let their dog come 
bounding up to us despite me asking them to call their dog back. 
I do wonder if this would be perfect timing for Crawley council to set up an 
allocated private area for responsible owners to book to let their dogs off lead to 
have a good run. A good area, secure field with good fencing. People could 
book online/pay online by the half hour or hour.  
There are no places locally that I can take mine too as one of mine jumps & can 
easily clear 5ft fences. So the one for example, at turners hill isnt an option for 
me as its not secure enough. 
I think you'd get a lot of people wanting to use it, especially with a confirmed 
case of Alabama rot now in crawley and many owners being really disheartened 
with the sheer amount of mindless owners in Crawley.  
It's a question that's often asked on forums/various fb pages.  

Page 34

 7
 P

et
iti

on
 –

 'K
ee

p 
yo

ur
 d

og
 o

n 
a 

le
ad

Agenda Item 7



 

It would also raise funds for CBC (which is like to see some go to charity or back 
into Tilgate). 
That's my thoughts on it all.  

22 I just wanted to say that I completely agree with the proposal to keep all dogs on 
leads around Tilgate lake. I am very saddened to hear about the death of the 
cygnet. I have lived in Crawley all my life and grew up enjoying the park but now 
do not like walking around Tilgate because of the dogs (although I use the 
Nature Centre a lot). I am a great animal lover but have 2 small children. Dogs 
not being on leads really worries me as there are a lot of people around Tilgate 
park who don't seem to have control of their dogs (luckily the majority do) I 
worry for the wildlife and I worry for the children. Also, last time I went, my 3 
year old stepped in dog poo and walking around the lake I saw a lot of it.  
I also refer you to Spotted: Crawley on Facebook. I forwarded them the details 
of this public consultation and a lot of people have commented. 

23 I think you should have a dogs on lead sign, but just around the lake 
Unfortunately people cannot always control their dogs so those dogs will get 
down by the lake without a lead on and some owners don't care & will not put 
leads on 
But, I think it should be tried to save the wildlife  

24 I would agree with introducing this policy of dogs on leads. This would make me 
feel much safer at the park and more likely to visit with my child. Currently I 
avoid the park due to dogs off of leads running around, this doesn't make me 
feel safe with a child. Owners always say there dog is fine but you don't know 
that and I have had dogs coming running up and not been able to see an owner 
around at all. I feel that this policy would make the park much more family 
friendly.  

25 I'm writing to you In support of a 'Dogs on Leads' policy around tilgate lake. The 
wildlife around this area should be protected, as well as those as who are 
around the lake with small children. I have many times witnessed dogs off lead 
chasing/barking at ducks etc and jumping up at my, and others small children. It 
would be nice if this area of the park could be enjoyed knowing that dogs are on 
leads and aren't going to try and harm any wildlife or people. 

26 Ive seen your poster Re. Dogs on leads and am supportive of your proposal.  
Unfortunately this is a case where the minority ruin it for the majority where 
control of their dogs are concerned, so in order to protect the swans and other 
birds on the lake i fully support dogs being on a lead near the lake to protect the 
wildlife. 
I hope there is sufficient resource to police this. 

27 I'm absolutely in agreement that Tilgate lake needs a 'dogs on leads' policy.  
I live on Titmus Drive and regularly visit the lake and see the swans. I have 
previously quite clearly expressed my views on social media after the attack on 
the swan family on both occasions when the Dad was attacked and again after 
the Cygnet. It appears that after each occasion, the public who own dogs either 
do not learn or do not care. 
I was devastated enough after the Cygnet was killed and would be even more 
so if I hear of another attack. 
Something has to be done, or something has to change. It is the swans home 
afterall. 
Please seriously consider introducing a policy, for the sake of the innocent 
wildlife. 

28 Yes I think it is a good idea to have dogs on leads in Tilgate Park around the 
lake area. I have walked my dogs there for years though always on a lead.  
I have watched many dog owner who think it is highly entertaining to let their 
dogs off to jump in the lake and swim after the ducks, geese and swans. They 
also allow their out of control dogs to run after other people's dogs that are on 

Page 35

 7
 P

et
iti

on
 –

 'K
ee

p 
yo

ur
 d

og
 o

n 
a 

le
ad

Agenda Item 7



 

the lead and run up to other people with children who are enjoying their time in 
the park but may not want the attention of an overexcited barking dog. 
Please introduce this as soon as possible so we can all enjoy watching the 
wonderful wildlife on the lake without the harassment of out of control dogs. I 
keep mine on leads while in the park/lake  area and only allow them off lead in 
the forest when there are no people or other dogs about. 

29 Just a message in response to your post regarding dogs in leads at Tilgate park. 
I understand and appreciate that his is a very tricky situation as ultimately it 
comes down to responsible owners, which unfortunately cannot always be 
guaranteed. 
As someone who has walked dogs at Tilgate park for the best part of 30 years I 
think it would be such a shame to ban all dogs off leads. It seems so unfair to 
many responsible owners and gentle mannered dogs. 
I have noticed recently however,  that some members of public put up notices in 
regard to the Cygnets and dog owners. I personally took note of this. 
Could I instead suggest perhaps designated areas where it is essential for dogs 
to be on leads at particular times of year with official notices.  
This would allow the safety of wild life but would not be so so overly extreme as 
to ban all dogs off leads. 

30 I think that a dog's on leads policy should be brought it. The wildlife needs 
protecting and there are plenty of playing fields surrounding Crawley where 
dogs can run freely and aren't a risk to wildlife.  

31 I recently read that you were considering to put a ban on dogs off the leads at 
the lake area. I think this is slightly crazy and completely unfair as you are 
discriminating on a group of people purely due to an incident. You wouldn't be 
telling adults they aren't allowed their kids near the lake as they are feeding the 
swans and ducks bread which makes them ill or sits on the lake decomposing 
which then makes the birds ill. You also wouldn't tell the bike riders they cannot 
use the path as they race around far too quickly and run over not only wildlife 
but everything in their way. You wouldn't be telling the teenagers that destroy 
the whole park by burnings things, leaving rubbish and throwing rocks at the 
birds they are banned. So why pick on a group of people because it is an easy 
fix that won't actually resolve the issue? And how would you even police or 
enforce this? 
I'm a dog walker and my two love to swim in the lakes, especially in the hot 
water, to keep cool. I ensure that when I'm walking and the birds are out the 
water the dogs go back on the lead. I avoid them and the area they are in as 
they actually would attack my dogs. If you are going to police this would it not 
make more sense to pin point everyone that is disrupting the birds? That 
includes kids feeding them bread, throwing stones at them, cyclists nearly 
running them over and dog walkers that don't have control of their dogs. This 
solution will reduce the chance of injury to the birds. 
I truly hope that this idea does not get put into practice as it is discrimination and 
also will stop a group of people, who use the park all year round and pay for 
parking, stop using this beautiful park. 

32 Not sure whether this is the correct email address but I saw a poster on the 
notice board at the lake that asked for views on the request for dogs to be kept 
on leads at the lake. 
We are regular walkers round Tilgate Lake and it has been sad this summer to 
see the Swan family suffer from dogs not being on leads.  
There is loads of woodland away from the lake that dogs could use to run freely 
but on the footpaths around the lake we think it is a must for dogs to be on a 
lead. We have ourselves experienced dogs jumping up at us also upsetting the 
joggers and fishermen. Small children can be frightened by excitable dogs. It 
wouldn't take much to introduce this rule.  

Page 36

 7
 P

et
iti

on
 –

 'K
ee

p 
yo

ur
 d

og
 o

n 
a 

le
ad

Agenda Item 7



 

33 In response to the consultation regarding dogs on leads in Tilgate Park, I would 
like to object to the proposal. I was horrified to hear of the attack on the swans, 
and believe that action of some kind is definitely required; however I would 
suggest that more appropriate action would include more visible staff with 
regular patrols, volunteer "swan watch" conducted by concerned locals, and 
more effective prosecution of offenders, perhaps even supported by cctv or 
similar. I for one would happily donate funds to this cause and imagine many 
others would too. 
Unfortunately the type of individual that allows their dog to savage wildlife and 
leave them for dead is unlikely to follow any new rules regarding the use of 
leads - meaning the only people who will follow the restriction will be those law 
abiding citizens who will not be causing the problem in the first place. This will 
only be resolved by active prevention activities such as those suggested above. 
The I, and many thousands of others, regularly exercise my dog at Tilgate Park 
and one of the great joys is seeing her running through the grounds, having fun 
and exploring - this won't be possible on a lead. It is also extremely dangerous 
for dogs to swim with a lead on, and so this will mean a de facto ban on dogs 
swimming in the lake.  
Imposing this lead restriction on everybody will severely damage the enjoyment 
and usage of Tilgate, and mean that I will almost certainly be forced to visit 
Buchan Park or St Leonard's forest instead. 

34 I thing tilgate park is big enough for everyone. But around the lake and the 
grassed area leading down to the lake should be a dog free zone or at least dog 
should be kept on leads.  
Nobody can say their dog is 100 percent safe.  We have heard of 2 incidents 
involving wildlife this year, but i am sure their have been more that have not 
been reported. It a matter of time before its a child is hurt. 
Last summer I had a dog run into the back of my legs and knocked me to the 
ground. I was shaken up and  a bit bruised. If it had been a child or someone 
senior in years it could have been at lot worse. 
Tilgate park is a large place and there are plenty of other areas that dogs could 
be let off their leads.  
Please make tilgate park a safe place for everyone.  

35 I am a dog owner who uses all of Tilgate regularly, come rain, sun, flood or 
snow. 
If we are walking by the lake I always check to see where the swans are and 
avoid them.  Having said that I have a Labrador who naturally leaps into the 
‘dog swimming’ area by the dam every time we visit there. 
It is a great shame to hear about the damage to the swans having watched the 
babies grow from tiny cygnets and the adults stepping up to parenthood. 
Firstly I think it is a shame but entirely reasonable to request that people keep 
their dog on a lead when walking the path around the lake.  Especially in the 
breeding season and when the park is packed with ’summer walkers’.  There is 
plenty of space to roam off the lead away from the lake area.  Perhaps there 
could be a similar system as to where and when dogs are allowed on beaches. 
Unfortunately there are too many dog owners, (I use the term ‘owners’ loosely 
as that would indicate some level of responsibility) who disregard even the 
basics of good citizenship. For example why is there always dog poo right next 
to the bins? - that goes beyond laziness. 
I think the other suggestion of using CC-TV is an excellent idea.  Not only for 
watching what the dogs are up to, but it would be great if those responsible for 
deliberately leaving litter and those causing vandalism could be called to 
account. 
Tilgate Park and surrounding area are great - any time of year.  Personally I 
prefer it when the sun, and the bugs, have gone. 

36 Hi there, 

Page 37

 7
 P

et
iti

on
 –

 'K
ee

p 
yo

ur
 d

og
 o

n 
a 

le
ad

Agenda Item 7



 

I'm just emailing to register my view on the proposed 'dogs off leads' ban at 
Tilgate Park. 
I'm a regular dog walker, and I also loved seeing the young cygnets grow over 
the course of the Summer. 
It was sad and frustrating to hear that a swan had been injured owing to a dog 
attack, and it was even worse to hear that a couple of the cygnets were attacked 
too. 
However I really feel that if a dog is well trained, of sound temperament and has 
a watchful owner, then there's no problem. I feel that a blanket ban on dogs off 
leads would be a huge shame owing to the fact that it's such a great space for 
dogs to enjoy exploring without causing any harm.  
Why should a few ignorant and inconsiderate people ruin it for the many? 
Raising awareness of the issue would seem to be enough to prompt people to 
think, and mature adults ought to be able to assess whether their dog should be 
kept on a lead or not. 
Furthermore, the park goes through seasons and busy/quiet periods throughout 
the day - so rules that seem appropriate on a busy Summer Saturday might 
seem completely over board on a quiet Tuesday in Autumn. It seems like a ban 
would be hard to enforce, too...  
Anyway, just writing to air my views. I've noticed more signage reminding dog 
walkers to respect the wildlife around the park and that seems like a great step! 

37 I am a dog owner & am very sad that all dogs should be punished for a few dog 
attacks. Yes the signet lost its life but please don't make Tilgate a 'dogs on lead' 
place.  
Statistically cats kill 275 MILLION animals a year & no one is bothered by this, 
but because it is a dog, it is big news. No one would ever tell a cat owner not to 
let their cats outside. Cats also go to the toilet which their owners don't clear up, 
usually in my gravel drive or flower bed! 
I think if Tilgate start a dogs on lead policy then it will spread to local parks then 
I suspect, all public places which will be a travesty for dogs mental health. 
Maybe  a muzzle policy would be fairer for dogs. Dogs can't bite with a muzzle 
on. 
Please don't take away a dog owners joy to see their dogs run free. 

38 If, and it is a big IF, there are to be restrictions placed on dog walking around 
the lake, might I suggest that between the dates of 1st April to 30th September 
each year, that dog owners are requested (by the placing of signs) to keep dogs 
on leads along the red line shown on the attached map. 

39 I would like to give my view about dogs on leads in Tilgate Park. I believe this is 
the way to do it by emailing to this email address. 
As someone who lives very close to the park and uses the park regularly for my 
self and grandchildren I have to say what a wonderful place it is in so many 
ways. The lakes, the park the Nature Centre and the forest make it a place for 
everyone. It is good to see so many people using the park for so many different 
purposes and community events. The only down side for me is the way that 
some dog owners have very little control of their dogs and they rampage around 
regardless of small children or wildlife. Seeing a dogs on leads policy in the 
most popular places in the park, like around the lake, and the main park area 
would be a great improvement for me. I can imagine this would be unpopular 
with dog owners maybe but benefits would be appreciated, and improve the 
quality of the experience for the non dog walking public.  
Thank you for the opportunity to express my opinion 

40 I feel quite strongly regarding keeping dogs on the lead around tilgate lake. 
Though most dog owners are responsible l have seen some disregarding the 
signs about the wildlife. There are plenty of areas where dogs can run free. I 
used to own a dog and he was always put on a lead while around the lake so 
not to annoy fishermen and water fowl.  

Page 38

 7
 P

et
iti

on
 –

 'K
ee

p 
yo

ur
 d

og
 o

n 
a 

le
ad

Agenda Item 7



 

Appendix B 
 

Examples of Complaints to Crawley Borough Council: Dec 2020 – August 2021 
 
 

8 August 
2021 

dog owners at tilgate park, dogs off leads, dog pooh on the paths, no signage 
instructing arrogant selfish dog owners to keep dogs on leads, dogs on long 
leads charging at people that don’t share their love of domesticated wild 
animals, in spite of recent swan and cygnet deaths owners still think it’s ok to 
allow their rottweilers and staffs to roam around  

15 May 
2021 

We are aware that dogs should be on a lead walking around Tilgate lake for 
swan, duck, animal safety, but also because it has become more popular and 
busy during lockdown. There have been numerous dog attacks and many dog 
walkers do not seem to know the rules or dog etiquette. 
However, in their defence I am conscious I have not seen any notices 
regarding dogs to be on the lead! Therefore an I suggest you rectify this 
immediately, to avoid accidence, and protection our our wildlife.  
The duck, geese and swans have so little safe nesting sites in comparison to 
other parks which is also disappointing, so let’s give them protection from the 
dogs.  
It would also be good to see the community police park rangers actually 
patrolling the park to enforce the rules too. 

15 May 
2021 

This is regarding Tilgate Park. 
There should be far more notices at Tilgate Park - particularly by the big lake 
because dogs are off their leads and are harassing the swans & cygnets as 
well as the geese & goslings. It was very upsetting to see that yesterday 
afternoon. 
There should also be far more signs asking people to not feed bread to the 
ducks, swans etc. 

3 May 
2021 

Loads of dogs off the lead around the lake in Tilgate Park. 
Not sure what can be done about this but rules are being ignored. Makes visit 
unpleasant and stressful for non dog-owning visitors. 

15 April 
2021 

I’m getting increasingly frustrated with taking my children for picnics and being 
accosted my dogs sniffing around our food. It is happening way too often. I am 
all for dogs getting out & having a run around, but at the same time why can’t 
every day people go out and enjoy a picnic without this happening? My children 
are petrified of dogs. It isn’t  fair that dogs should be kept on leads all the time 
and it also isn’t fair that anyone like my children should have to refrain from 
enjoying outdoor spaces too. Everyone should be able to enjoy these spaces 
together. 
I feel like there should be A LOT more signs and information regarding dog 
owners being responsible for their dogs at ALL times. On the most recent 
occasion that this has happened at Tilgate park, by the lake, the dog came and 
took the food out of a child’s  hand. This not only ruined our time and 
traumatised my children but the dog could have eaten something potentially 
harmful to it and the owner was nowhere to be seen. We had to look around for 
them, only for them to be sitting chatting on a bench with no idea where the dog 
was or what it was doing. 
This is not an isolated incident.  
I think it would be nice if in places like this, particularly where people regularly 
go for picnics that there should be signs for dogs to be strictly kept on leads 
and it be made very clear where they can take their dogs to have a run around. 
Thank you for your time 

5 April 
2021 

Had a confrontation with a dog owner today at Tilgate Park lake while walking 
our two dogs on leads. His dog came up to ours and was running up to small 
children. I politely told him to put his dog on a lead . He said he came everyday 

Page 39

 7
 P

et
iti

on
 –

 'K
ee

p 
yo

ur
 d

og
 o

n 
a 

le
ad

Agenda Item 7



 

and didn’t need to .I told him there was signs , he said where , there was only 
one sign and that was three years old ! His wasn’t the only dog off leads around 
the park . You need to put up more prominent signage before there an attack of 
some type as unfortunately there are too many irresponsible dog owners. 
Example what has happened in the midlands this week ! 

8 
February 
2021 

On Friday last week around 7:20pm, there was an incident involving a 
dangerous dog which attacked the resident, the police were notified as well as 
the community warden, the resident advises that the Warden did not appear to 
be interested in what happened, although it was clearly stated that the dog had 
attacked the resident, the warden stated that it was a dog on dog attack and 
could not have been listening to what had been said, the warden has said that 
there will be no action as the resident cannot provide an address for where the 
couple with the dog who attacked live. 
The resident tried to advise that he could not possibly know where they lived, 
but went on to explain that he sees them on a daily basis whilst walking his dog 
in Broadfield, he gave a thorough description of the couple and the dog (black 
Labrador) he is very concerned that this dog could be a danger to other 
members of the public and that the warden doesn't seem to care. 
Resident has message that were exchanged between himself and the warden if 
needs to be provided. 

18 
December 
2020 

Yesterday myself and my daughter were in Tilgate park. She is allergic to dogs 
and also has asthma and was carrying her 5m in a sling, and I am disabled and 
unsteady on my feet. I asked a dog walker to pull in her dog from its long leash 
as it was too close. She refused, was very rude and we had to step of the path 
into the mud. She then turned around to get behind us and let it get too close 
behind me - I'm not allergic, but I worried about getting hair on my clothes 
which would effect my daughter, so I asked the dog walker to walk ahead of us 
so we could keep our distance and told her it was against the law to let the dog 
touch us. After consulting with her man friend she turned to return to us with the 
dog. We couldn't run and felt terribly threatened. Only by screaming at her did I 
frighten her down the path, and they then turned as if to follow us to the car 
park. I worried she was doing this to threaten us from behind again so I ranted 
on and threatened her with violence, she was a bit shaken by that and she 
turned off down a different path. Her last comment was that my daughter 
shouldn't come to the park if she has a problem. We couldn't believe that 
happened, and, as the park should be accessible to all we wondered if you 
could put signs up advising dog walkers that they were responsible for their 
dogs and that dogs should not be allowed to touch strangers whenever 
possible.  Since my daughters allergies have become serious we have to ask 
people constantly to rein in their dogs - most comply, although some are very 
rude.  Walks in any park is almost impossible for us but we desperately wanted 
to take the baby to the zoo and couldn't believe that the short walk back would 
be so problematic or that I had to resort to threats to scare this entitled woman 
away.  With the unfortunate demise of XXXXXX I wondered if this was a good 
time to talk about asthma and making people aware of the danger of letting 
dogs near asthmatic people?  I can't believe that this woman would risk my 
daughters life in this way, especially when she was carrying a baby in a sling in 
the middle of a park no where near help. I didn't have time to get my phone out 
to video this (I  was too scared of her escalating behaviour so screaming at her 
seemed more likely to stop her quickly) so I can't complain to the police about 
her as I have no evidence, but I wondered if there was something the council 
could do as a preventative measure? Thank you for listening, I realise there's 
not much you can do but just a few signs through the park would be brilliant. 

 
 
 

Page 40

 7
 P

et
iti

on
 –

 'K
ee

p 
yo

ur
 d

og
 o

n 
a 

le
ad

Agenda Item 7



 

Appendix C 
 

Pros & Cons for each option 
 

Option 1:  Maintain current position 
 

 
 

Option 2: Re-double education / information efforts 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Pros Cons 

Continues to respond to most recent public 
consultation response 

CBC do not enforce published rules – 
reputational issue 

Nuisance dog owners still challenged and 
encouraged to put dogs on leads 

No enforcement powers to support compliance 
- some dogs continue to cause nuisance 
without sanction 

Does not require additional resources or divert 
from other priorities 

Community Warden patrols sporadic and 
dependent on other priorities 

Responsible dog owners not impacted Signage replacement 

Pros Cons 

Continues to respond to most recent public 
consultation 

CBC do not enforce published rules – 
reputational issue 

Nuisance dog owners still challenged and 
encouraged to put dogs on leads 

Diverts resources from other priorities 
(Community Wardens / legal / comms) 

Responsible dog owners not impacted No enforcement powers to support compliance 

No enforcement related costs incurred Some dogs continue to cause nuisance without 
sanction 

Dogs have rest of Park estate to exercise ‘off 
lead’ 

Cost of signage (purchase, installation, 
maintenance, replacement) 

Page 41

 7
 P

et
iti

on
 –

 'K
ee

p 
yo

ur
 d

og
 o

n 
a 

le
ad

Agenda Item 7



 

Option 3: Option 2 + Enforcement measures 
 

Pros Cons 

CBC enforce their published rules May heighten public expectations (can only 
enforce what is seen) 

Nuisance behaviour is proactively challenged 
and enforced, acting as a deterrent  

Does not respond to most recent public 
consultation 

Responds positively to public concerns Diverts resources from other priorities 
(Community Wardens / legal / comms) 

Dogs have rest of Park estate to exercise ‘off 
lead’ 

Penalises responsible dog owners 

 
Enforcement options have resource 
implications (prosecution / implementation) 

 Does not respond to most recent public 
consultation 

 

Page 42

 7
 P

et
iti

on
 –

 'K
ee

p 
yo

ur
 d

og
 o

n 
a 

le
ad

Agenda Item 7



 

  

Crawley Borough Council 
 

Report to Overview and Scrutiny Commission 
6th September 2021 

 

Report to Cabinet 
8th September 2021 

2021/2022 Budget Monitoring - Quarter 1 
 

Report of the Head of Corporate Finance FIN/531 
 

 
1. Purpose 
 
1.1 The report sets out a summary of the Council’s actual revenue and capital spending 

for the first Quarter to June 2021. It identifies the main variations from the approved 
spending levels and any potential impact on future budgets. 

 
 
2. Recommendations  
 
2.1 To the Overview and Scrutiny Commission: 
 

That the Commission consider the report and decide what comments, if any, it 
wishes to submit to the Cabinet. 

 
2.2 To the Cabinet: 
 

The Cabinet is recommended to: 
 
a) Agree to note the projected outturn for the year 2021/2022 as summarised in 

this report. 
 

b) Note the potential overspend on HRA responsive repairs as shown in 
paragraph 8.4 

 
c) Note that the ICT budget has been increased by £100,000 for Hardware 

Renewals and that this will be funded from the ICT Renewals Reserve. 
 
d) Agree to increase the capital budget by £35,000 in 2021/22 to purchase a 

Legal Case Management System this will be funded from New Burdens 
grant received from the government. 

 
e) Agree to draw down from the existing refurbishment of playgrounds future 

schemes for the two play schemes as identified in paragraph 9.9 which will 
be funded from available s106 (subject to delegated approval). 

 
 

3. Reasons for the Recommendations 
 
3.1 To report to Members on the projected outturn for the year compared to the approved 

budget.  
 
 

Page 43

 8
 2

02
1/

20
22

 B
ud

ge
t M

on
ito

rin
g 

- Q
ua

rt

Agenda Item 8



 

4.  Background 

 
4.1 As part of the Budget Strategy, the Council has in place robust budget monitoring 

systems to ensure that unapproved overspends are avoided. The Council also 
manages and analyses underspending to identify potential savings that could help 
meet current and future years’ priorities. 
 

4.2 Budget monitoring is undertaken on a monthly basis with budget holders. There are 
quarterly budget monitoring reports to Cabinet with the Corporate Management 
Team receiving monthly update reports on key areas and any other areas of concern.  
The Overview and Scrutiny Commission also have the opportunity to scrutinise 
expenditure.  Quarterly monitoring information is also included in the Councillors’ 
Information Bulletin. 
 

4.3 This report outlines the projected outturn for 2021/2022 as at the end of June 2021.  
 
4.4 As discussed in the budget report and budget strategy, due to the pandemic it is very 

difficult to accurately forecast our financial position for the year.  

 
5. Budget Monitoring Variations 
 
5.1 General Fund  

The table below summarises the projected variances in the relevant Portfolio at 
Quarter 1. 
 
[F indicates that the variation is favourable, U that it is unfavourable] 

  

  

Variance 
Projected at 

Quarter 1  
  £'000's  
Cabinet 331 U 

Public Protection & Community Engagement (15) F 

Environmental Services & Sustainability 318 U 

Housing 18 U 

Wellbeing 911 U 

Planning & Economic Development 17 U 

Resources (3) F 

Total of Portfolios   1,577 U 

Investment Interest (48) F 

     
TOTAL (SURPLUS)/DEFICIT 1,529 U 

     
Use of Approved Coronavirus Budgets (1,008) F 

Sales, Fees and Charges Grant Q1 (250) F 

REVISED (SURPLUS)/DEFICIT 271 U 

 
Further details of these projected variances are provided in Appendix 1(i & ii) attached 
to this report. 
 
 
 
 

Page 44

 8
 2

02
1/

20
22

 B
ud

ge
t M

on
ito

rin
g 

- Q
ua

rt

Agenda Item 8



 

Significant Quarter 1 variances over £50,000 
 
5.1.1 Cabinet 
 

 Savings of £100,000 in relation to a review of essential car users and out of hours 
payments are now unlikely to be realised and will impact on future budget deficits. 

 
The pay award for Local Government is now anticipated to be a minimum of 1.75%, 
the additional cost of this is projected to be £300,000 for the General Fund. 

 
There have been savings of £100,000 identified by a tender of the insurance 
contract. 

  
5.1.2 Public Protection & Community Engagement 
 

There are no significant variations to report this quarter. 
 

5.1.3 Environmental Services & Sustainability Services 
 

There is a shortfall of income as shown in 6.1 below.  Parking is mainly due to 
cancelled season tickets and reduced pay and display in Orchard Street Car Park.  
Port Health, we have received no income through Gatwick airport for imported food 
for the last 18 months.  Licencing, no new taxi drivers were taken on during 
lockdown. 

  
5.1.4 Housing Services 
 

There are no significant variations to report this quarter. 
 

5.1.5 Wellbeing 
 
 There is a shortfall of income as shown in 6.1 below. K2 Crawley has seen a 

significant number of direct debit cancellations and a lower than anticipated pick up of 
these as lockdown has eased, this is likely to be due to the number of job losses in 
the Town.  Community centres, there have been no lettings to adults in the first 
quarter, it is anticipated that there will be a pick up later in the year. 

  
5.1.6 Planning & Economic Development 
 

There is a shortfall of income as shown in 6.1 below. 
 
Temporary staff in the Commercial Property team have been working on the backlog 
of lease renewals and, at this stage, are projecting that this will bring in additional 
income of £57,000. 
 

5.1.7 Resources 
 

There are no significant variations to report this quarter. 
 
 
5.1.8 Investment Income  
   

Revised projections of borrowing costs on capital projects due to delayed borrowing 

and lower interest rates have resulted in a forecast underspend of £48,000. 

 
 
 

Page 45

 8
 2

02
1/

20
22

 B
ud

ge
t M

on
ito

rin
g 

- Q
ua

rt

Agenda Item 8



 

5.1.9 Additional Funding – Sales, fees and charges Quarter 1. 
  

Government are continuing with the repayment of 75p of every £1 lost after 
deducting 5% of the budgeted income from sales fees and charges, for quarter 1 
only. A projection of £250,000 has therefore been included at this stage.  
 

6. Coronavirus Budget 
 

6.1 The budget strategy and budget report allowed for lost sales, fees & charges and 
additional expenditure pressures due to Covid of £1.113m. This is set up of £813,000 
Covid related budget and £300,000 set aside for lost income. The below table sets 
out the proposed use of those funds and any remaining balance.  

 

Covid Related Variations   

    

Environmental Services & Sustainability Services   

Parking Reduced Income 132 

Port Health Reduced Income 105 

Licensing Reduced Income 55 

  292 

Wellbeing   

PPE (Neighbourhood services) 43 

Community Centres Reduced Income 259 

K2 Crawley Reduced Income & Additional Support 592 

  894 

Planning & Economic Development   

Planning Reduced Income 42 

Building Control Reduced Income 30 

  72 

    

Subtotal 1,258 

    

Sales, Fees & Charges Grant Q1 (250) 

    

Use of Approved Coronavirus budget 1,008 

  

Coronavirus Budget remaining 105 

 
 

7. Virements 
  
7.1 Virements up to £50,000 can be approved by Heads of Service under delegated 

powers and reported to Cabinet for information. There have been no virements in this 
quarter. 

 
 

8. Council Housing (Crawley Homes) – Revenue 
 
8.1 The table below provides details of the 2021/2022 HRA variances.  
 

Page 46

 8
 2

02
1/

20
22

 B
ud

ge
t M

on
ito

rin
g 

- Q
ua

rt

Agenda Item 8



 

                                                HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT 

                                                

  
 

Q1 Projected 
Variation  

   £000’s  
Income    
Rental Income  0  
Other Income  (4) F 

Interest Received on balances  (98) F 

   (102) F 

Expenditure     
Employees  81 U 

Repairs & Maintenance  6 U 

Other running costs  10 U 

Support services  0  

   97 U 

      

Net (Surplus) / Deficit  (5) F 

      

Transfer to the Housing Investment Reserve  5  

      
 

 
Further details of these projected variances are provided in Appendix 1(iii & iv). 

 
8.2 Interest  

 

Interest on deferred receipts from shared equity properties, this is in respect of 

properties in Forge Wood and Apex apartments. 

 
8.3 Employees 
 

The pay award for Local Government is now anticipated to be a minimum of 
1.75%, the additional cost of this is projected to be £60,000 for the HRA. 
 

8.4 Repairs and maintenance 
 
 Increased demand and a higher price of supplies has the potential to cause 

a significant overspend within responsive repairs. At the current demand the 
service could be up to £2m overspent. This has not been included in the 
variance table above as it is not too late to bring this back within budget at 
this stage.  Work is being undertaken to understand the full impact of this 
and more detail will be available for quarter 2. 

 

9. Capital   
 
9.1 The table below shows the 2021/22 projected capital outturn and proposed carry 

forward into 2022/23. Further details on the Capital Programme are provided in 
Appendix 2 to this report.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 47

 8
 2

02
1/

20
22

 B
ud

ge
t M

on
ito

rin
g 

- Q
ua

rt

Agenda Item 8



 

  
Latest   
Budget 
2021/22 

 
Spend to 

Q1 
2021/22 

 
 

 
Estimated 
Outturn 
2020/21 

 
Under/ 
(over) 
spend 

 
Re-profiled 

to/(from) 
future years 

 £000’s £000’s £000’s £000’s £000’s 
      
Joint Responsibility 24,761 5,149 24,761 0 0 

Cabinet 
 

330 57 330 0 0 

Environmental Services & 
Sustainability 
 

354 

 

18 
 

263 
 
 

0 
 
 

91 

Housing Services 
 

8,291 403 5,984 14 2,293 

Planning & Economic 
Development  

225 39 258 0 (33)
  

Resources 
 

1,154 18 1,154 0 0 

Wellbeing 
 

1,618 625 1,584 0 34 

Total General Fund 36,733 6,309 34,334 14 2,385 
      
Council Housing  33,342 2,724 20,022 0 13,320 
      

Total Capital 70,075 9,033 54,356 14 15,705 

 
 
9.2 The Flooding Emergency Works has slipped £90,893 into 2022/23. After officer visits 

to various sites it was agreed to commission a comprehensive watercourse bank 
condition survey the outcomes from the survey will be become part of the Flooding 
Emergency Works. A report to the Corporate Projects Assurance Group will show the 
outcomes of the condition survey and priorities for this budget will be reported to a 
future Cabinet. 

 
9.3 The Temporary Accommodation Acquisitions general fund capital budget has slipped 

£1,400,000 into 2022/23, the service is proactively looking for suitable temporary 
accommodation to purchase.  If a suitable property becomes available, the budget 
will be brought forward into the current financial year. 

 
9.4 The Disabled Facilities Grant has slipped £868,451 into 2022/23, the service relies 

on West Sussex County Council Occupational Therapist referrals, due to restrictions 
as a result of the pandemic there is a backlog of works.  Each year the service has 
an allocation from the Better Care Fund, this is allocated to West Sussex County 
Council and redistributed to the Districts; this funding can be carried forward into 
future years.  

 
9.5 The ICT budget has been revised with some new schemes added without any effect 

on budget.  This is to reflect the changing requirements in the IT service and to 
redistribute funds from projects that have completed to new projects. 

 
 
 
 

Page 48

 8
 2

02
1/

20
22

 B
ud

ge
t M

on
ito

rin
g 

- Q
ua

rt

Agenda Item 8



 

Scheme Description Budget 

  £ 

Budget Reduced  

ICT Capital - Future Projects (71,567) 

Mobile Working (ICT) (10,939) 

Digital Works (51,000) 

ICT Transformation Future (114,000) 

LAN Fresh (64,409) 

Migration to Cloud Evaluation (5,000) 

Budget Increased   

Unified Communications/Telephony 10,915 

Income Management System 60,000 

Sharepoint 50,000 

Agile Working Phase 3 120,000 

Channel Shift 51,000 

Commercial Property System 25,000 

Effect on Budget  0 

  
 
9.6 Within the recommendations it has been noted that the ICT budget has been 

increased by £100,000 for ICT Hardware Renewals.  This budget is required to 
replace existing hardware that may be damaged or outdated such as laptops.  This is 
funded from the ICT renewals fund reserve, an annual contribution from revenue 
budgets is made to this reserve.  Cabinet are requested to note this. 

  
9.7 Housing (Crawley Homes HRA) 
 
 Acquisition of Land or Dwelling 

Acquisitions of Land or Dwellings has been slipped by £1,800,000 into 2022/23 with 
work ongoing to identify suitable properties.  Should a suitable property become 
available, the budget will be brought forward into the current year. 
 
Forge Wood Phase 4b 
Forge Wood Phase 4b has not yet progressed onto site and will not reach the 
milestone to trigger contractual payments in 2021/22 as a result £4,094,236 has been 
slipped into 2022/23. 
 
Purchase of Properties 
With ongoing negotiations to purchase a property the budget of £3,500,000 has been 
slipped into 2022/23.  Should a suitable property become available, the budget will be 
brought forward into the current financial year.   
 
Breezehurst Phase 2  
Breezehurst Phase 2 is forecast to start on site in the last quarter of 2021/22 as a 
result £3,406,099 has been slipped into 2022/23. 
 

9.8 There is a recommendation to increase the capital programme by £35,000 to 
purchase a Legal Case Management System.  At present legal case management is 
a manual process and documents for cases are stored within the Microsoft Office 
suite.  The new system would deliver time and cost efficiencies and will streamline 
processes within the legal team.  This can be funded by a new burdens grant from 
the government. 

Page 49

 8
 2

02
1/

20
22

 B
ud

ge
t M

on
ito

rin
g 

- Q
ua

rt

Agenda Item 8



 

 
9.9 The Unsupervised Play Investment Programme Member working group have signed 

off/agreed the priority sites for investment, there are currently 5 proposed for the first 
year of investment; in terms of scheduling the two sites in question Southgate Playing 
Fields and Perkstead Court feature highest in the priorities.  There is also sufficient 
s106 funding available to commence these schemes.  

 

 Perkstead Court in Bewbush is the most advanced and is now one of the higher 
priorities particularly as it has been on hold for 18 months and more. It was in the 
original programme which was paused for reprioritisation late in 2019/20 
(£20,000).  

 

 Southgate Playing Fields was in the original investment programme and is one of 
the highest priorities for a number of condition and safety reasons. The s106 that 
has been identified for allocation to this scheme can only be used in Southgate 
Playing Fields; therefore no other play areas would be eligible for the funds 
(£47,619). 

 
Cabinet are requested to approve that these schemes are drawn down from the 
unsupervised play future schemes budget of £106,979 which is shown in Appendix 2.  
This will subject to a delegated report to release the s106 funds for the schemes. 
 

9.10 From the 1st April 2021 the reporting of the use of Right to Buy 1-4-1 receipts to the 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) has moved to an 
annual return.  Other changes are that these receipts now need to be used within 5 
years of receipt instead of 3 years and can be used to fund up to 40% of new 
affordable homes including shared ownership dwellings.  This was as a result to 
responses to Government consultation on Right to Buy receipts. 

 
9.11 Within the first quarter of 2021/22 fifteen Council Houses with a sale value of 

£2,594,600 compared to three in the first quarter of last year. Of these receipts a 
proportion will be paid over to the Government with the remainder being retained by 
the Council being set aside as 1-4-1 receipts and general capital receipts. The values 
of each will be calculated within the annual return. [The 1-4-1 arrangement is one 
where the Council retains a larger proportion of right to buy receipts then they 
otherwise would, in return for a commitment to spend the addition receipts on 
building or acquiring properties.]   

 

10. Background Papers 
 
Budget Strategy 2021/22 – 2025/26 FIN/508 
2021/2022 Budget and Council Tax FIN/514 
Treasury Management Strategy 2021/22 FIN/517 
Financial Outturn 2020/2021: Budget Monitoring – Quarter 4 FIN/526 
Treasury Management Outturn for 2020/21 FIN/527 
 
 
Contact Officer: - Paul Windust, Chief Accountant. 
Direct Line: - 01293 438693 

  

Page 50

 8
 2

02
1/

20
22

 B
ud

ge
t M

on
ito

rin
g 

- Q
ua

rt

Agenda Item 8

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/use-of-receipts-from-right-to-buy-sales/outcome/use-of-receipts-from-right-to-buy-sales-government-response-to-the-consultation
https://democracy.crawley.gov.uk/documents/s15259/Budget%20Strategy%20202122%20202526.pdf
https://democracy.crawley.gov.uk/documents/s16999/10.%20Budget%20and%20Council%20Tax%20FIN514.pdf
https://democracy.crawley.gov.uk/documents/s16988/Treasury%20Management%20Strategy%202021-2022.pdf
https://democracy.crawley.gov.uk/documents/s18414/Financial%20Outturn%202020-2021%20Budget%20Monitoring%20-%20Quarter%204.pdf
https://democracy.crawley.gov.uk/documents/s18413/Treasury%20Management%20Outturn%202020%202021.pdf


 

 
          Appendix 1 (i) 
 

REVENUE MONITORING SUMMARY 2021/22 

GENERAL FUND 

   

 Latest Projected   

  Budget Outturn Variance 

  £000's £000's £000's 

        

Cabinet 1,064 1,395 331 

Public Protection & Community Engagement 1,459 1,444 (15) 

Environmental Services & Sustainability 5,011 5,329 318 

Housing 2,636 2,654 18 

Wellbeing 9,353 10,264 911 

Planning & Economic Development (3,277) (3,260) 17 

Resources 430 427 (3) 

        

  16,676 18,253 1,577 

     

Depreciation (3,456) (3,456) 0 

Renewals Fund 633 633 0 

NET COST OF SERVICES 13,853 15,430 1,577 

        

Investment Interest (398) (401) (3) 

Interest Paid 117 72 (45) 

    

Council Tax (7,411) (7,411) 0 

RSG (60) (60) 0 

NNDR (4,306) (4,306) 0 

New Homes Bonus (1,108) (1,108) 0 

Local Council Tax Support Grant  (363) (363) 0 

Lower Tier Services Grant (169) (169) 0 

    

    

Sales, Fees & Charges Grant Q1 0 (250) (250) 

Use of Approved Coronavirus Budgets  (1,008) (1,008) 

     

Net contribution from / (-to) Reserves  155 426 271 

    

Page 51

 8
 2

02
1/

20
22

 B
ud

ge
t M

on
ito

rin
g 

- Q
ua

rt

Agenda Item 8



 

 

Main Variations identified for 2021/22 - General Fund Appendix 1 (ii) 

     

 

Q1 Total 
Variation 

 
Covid 

Related 
Variation 

Other 
Variation 

 £’000s  £’000s £’000s 

Cabinet        

Unrealised Car Allowance/Out of Hours 
Savings 

100   0 100 

Pay Award (1.75%) 300   0 300 

Insurance Tender Savings (100)   0 (100) 

Minor Variations 31   0 31 
         
 331  0 331 

Public Protection & Community 
Engagement 

       

Minor Variations (15)  0 (15) 
        
 (15)  0 (15) 

Environmental Services & Sustainability        

Parking Reduced Income 132  132 0 

Port Health Reduced Income 105  105 0 

Licensing Reduced Income 55  55 0 

Minor Variations 26  0 26 
        
 318  292 26 

Housing        

Minor Variations 18  0 18 
         

  18   0 18 

Wellbeing         

PPE (Neighbourhood services) 43   43 0 

Community Centres Reduced Income 259   259 0 

K2 Crawley Reduced Income & Additional 
Support 

592   592 0 

Minor Variations 17   0 17 
         
 911   894 17 

Planning & Economic Development         

Commercial Property Income (Lease 
Renewals) 

(57)   0 (57) 

Planning Reduced Income 42   42 0 

Building Control Reduced Income 30   30 0 

Minor Variations 2   0 2 
        

 
 
 

17  72 (55) 

Page 52

 8
 2

02
1/

20
22

 B
ud

ge
t M

on
ito

rin
g 

- Q
ua

rt

Agenda Item 8



 

 

 

Resources        

Minor Variations (3)  0 (3) 
        
 (3)  0 (3) 

          

TOTAL GENERAL FUND VARIANCES 1,577  1,258 319 
        

Sales, Fees & Charges Grant  (250)  (250) 0 

Use of Approved Coronavirus Budgets (1,008)  (1,008) 0 

Investment Interest (48)  0 (48) 
        

TOTAL VARIANCES 271  0 271 

 
 

Page 53

 8
 2

02
1/

20
22

 B
ud

ge
t M

on
ito

rin
g 

- Q
ua

rt

Agenda Item 8



 

 

  
          Appendix 1 (iii) 
 

QUARTER 1    

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT 

Expenditure Description 

Latest 
Estimate 

Projected 
Outturn 

Variation 

  £’000s £’000s £’000s 

Income       

Rental Income (46,908) (46,908) 0 

Other Income (1,640) (1,644) (4) 

Interest received on balances (150) (248) (98) 

        

Total income (48,698) (48,800) (102) 

        

Expenditure       

Employees 3,768 3,849 81 

Repairs & Maintenance * 11,606 11,612 6 

Other running costs 2,063 2,073 10 

Support services 3,096 3,096 0 

  20,533 20,630 97 

        

Net (Surplus) / Deficit (28,165) (28,170) (5) 

        

Use of Reserves:       

        

Debt Interest Payments 8,309 8,309 0 

Depreciation, Revaluation & Impairment 6,216 6,216 0 

Transfer to/(from) Housing Reserve 13,640 13,646 6 

     

Total 28,165 28,170 5 

 
* Subject to the review of responsive repairs that will be reported at Quarter 2 – see paragraph 8.4 

for further details. 
 
 
 
  

Page 54

 8
 2

02
1/

20
22

 B
ud

ge
t M

on
ito

rin
g 

- Q
ua

rt

Agenda Item 8



 

 

           

 Q1 

 Variation 

 £’000s 

Income   

   

Shared equity deferred receipt interest  (98) 

Minor Variations (4) 

   

 (102) 

Employees   

   

1.75% Pay award 60 

Unmet Vacancy Provision 21 

   

 81 

Repairs & Premises Costs   

   

Minor Variations 6 

   

 6 

Other Running Costs   

   

Minor Variations 10 

   

 10 

   

TOTAL VARIANCES (5) 

 

          Appendix 1 (iv) 
 

Main Variations Identified - Housing Revenue Account 
    

Page 55

 8
 2

02
1/

20
22

 B
ud

ge
t M

on
ito

rin
g 

- Q
ua

rt

Agenda Item 8



 

 

2021/22 Qtr. 1 Capital Appendix 
 

Note – Slippage is moving budgets between years. If the figure is not in brackets then we are moving the budget to future years, if it is in brackets we are bringing it 
forward from later years. 
 

Scheme Description 
Budget 
2021/22 

Spend to 
Date 

Projected 
Outturn 

Under / 
(Over 

Spend) 
Slippage  Budget 

2022/23 
Budget 
2023/24 

Budget 
2024/25 

Future 
Years 

  £ £ £ £ £  £ £ £ £ 

New Town Hall Redevelopment - Joint 
responsibility 

23,953,975 5,149,103 23,953,975 0 0        
3,000,000  

0 0 0 

Manor Royal BID - Towns Fund 371,949   371,949              

Investment in Town Centre 435,000   435,000              

JOINT RESPONSIBILITY 24,760,924 5,149,103 24,760,924 0 0  3,000,000 0 0 0 
           

           

Garages 330,082 56,872 330,082      500,000 200,000     

CABINET 330,082 56,872 330,082 0 0  500,000 200,000 0 0 
           

           

Environmental Services and 
Sustainability 

          

New Cemetery 18,694 6,966 18,694              

Cycle Paths 25,300   25,300              

Crawters / Manor Royal Cycle Path 65,665   65,665              

Flooding Emergency Works 199,099 2,578 108,206   90,893  171,728       

Telemetry Measuring Equipment 4,605   4,605              

Crabbett Park Pound Hill Flood Works 33,000 8,483 33,000              

Leat Stream Ifield Flood Alleviation 7,289   7,289              

Solar PV CBC Operational Buildings            60,000       

TOTAL ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES & 
SUSTAINABILITY PORTFOLIO 

353,652 18,027 262,759 0 90,893  231,728 0 0 0 

           
           

Housing Enabling (General Fund)                    

Temp Accommodation Acquisitions 2,400,000   1,000,000   1,400,000  1,400,000       

Open House Moving Acquisition 14,235     14,235            

P
age 56

 8 2021/2022 Budget Monitoring - Quart

A
genda Item

 8



 

 

Scheme Description 
Budget 
2021/22 

Spend to 
Date 

Projected 
Outturn 

Under / 
(Over 

Spend) 
Slippage  Budget 

2022/23 
Budget 
2023/24 

Budget 
2024/25 

Future 
Years 

  £ £ £ £ £  £ £ £ £ 

Affordable Housing Town Hall 2,258,298   2,258,298        3,138,750     

Longley House 1,700,000   1,700,000        1,700,000     

Disabled Facilities Grants 1,868,451 396,751 1,000,000   868,451  868,451       

Improvement/Repair Loans 50,000 6,110 25,000   25,000  25,000       

TOTAL HOUSING (GENERAL FUND) 
PORTFOLIO 

8,290,984 402,861 5,983,298 14,235 2,293,451  2,293,451 4,838,750 0 0 

           
           

Planning and Economic Development                    

Manor Royal Business Group              200,000     

                     

Crawley Growth Programme                    

Queensway 25,000 13,051 57,929   (32,929)  134,394       

Town Centre Signage and Wayfinding 10,000 5,788 10,000      12,016       

Town Centre General              71,100     

Manor Royal Cycle Improvements 50,000 6,000 50,000      310,632 1,415,303     

Town Centre Cycle Improvements 20,000 4,125 20,000      979,673       

Manor Royal Super Hub            263,028       

Station Gateway            250,720 1,588,172   3,176,344 

Town Centre Super Hub                  74,231 

Town Centre Acquisition 95,000   95,000      2,362,000 3,543,000     

Three Bridges Station 25,000 9,611 25,000      479,092 958,186     

Total Crawley Growth Programme 225,000 38,575 257,929 0 (32,929)  4,791,555 7,575,761 0 3,250,575 

TOTAL PLANNING & ECONOMIC 
DEVELOPMENT PORTFOLIO 

225,000 38,575 257,929 0 (32,929)   4,791,555 7,775,761 0 3,250,575 

                     

Resources           

Gigabit            2,700,000       

ICT Capital - Future Projects 179,646   108,079 71,567            

P
age 57

 8 2021/2022 Budget Monitoring - Quart

A
genda Item

 8



 

 

Scheme Description 
Budget 
2021/22 

Spend to 
Date 

Projected 
Outturn 

Under / 
(Over 

Spend) 
Slippage  Budget 

2022/23 
Budget 
2023/24 

Budget 
2024/25 

Future 
Years 

  £ £ £ £ £  £ £ £ £ 

New Website And Intranet 53,576   53,576              

Mobile Working (ICT) 10,939     10,939            

Ict Transformation                    

Digital Works 61,000   10,000 51,000            

ICT Transformation Future 189,000   75,000 114,000            

Unified Communications/Telephony 6,678 17,593 17,593 (10,915)            

Migration to Cloud Evaluation 5,000     5,000            

Power and UPS 20,000   20,000              

LAN Fresh 64,409     64,409            

ICT Cloud 464,000   464,000              

Legal Case Management System                    

Income Management System     60,000 (60,000)            

Commercial Property System     25,000 (25,000)            

Sharepoint     50,000 (50,000)            

Agile Working Phase 3     120,000 (120,000)            

Channel Shift     51,000 (51,000)            

Hardware Renewals 100,000   100,000              

TOTAL RESOURCES PORTFOLIO 1,154,248 17,593 1,154,248 0 0   2,700,000 0 0 0 
           

           

Wellbeing           

Vehicle Replacement Programme 299,501   299,501              

Refurb Playgrounds Future Schemes 106,979   106,979              

Skate Park Equipment            46,000       

Memorial Gardens Improvements 33,400       33,400  33,400       

Tilgate Park 130,643 122,730 130,643              

Nature & Wildlife Centre 121,703 19,847 121,703              

Allotments 40,000   40,000      45,000       

P
age 58

 8 2021/2022 Budget Monitoring - Quart

A
genda Item

 8



 

 

Scheme Description 
Budget 
2021/22 

Spend to 
Date 

Projected 
Outturn 

Under / 
(Over 

Spend) 
Slippage  Budget 

2022/23 
Budget 
2023/24 

Budget 
2024/25 

Future 
Years 

  £ £ £ £ £  £ £ £ £ 

Adventure Playgrounds 275,000   275,000      125,000       

Memorial Gardens Play Improvements 16,933   16,933              

Chichester Close 45,000 42,055 45,000              

Dormans Play Area 35,447 295 35,447              

Newbury Road 38,131 36,855 38,131              

Ninfield Court 15,000   15,000              

Rushetts Road 9,923 3,966 9,923              

Hawth Agreement 400,000 400,000 400,000              

K2 Crawley Climbing Wall 50,000   50,000              

TOTAL WELLBEING PORTFOLIO 1,617,660 625,748 1,584,260 0 33,400  249,400 0 0 0 

           

TOTAL GENERAL FUND 36,732,550 6,308,779 34,333,500 14,235 2,384,815  13,766,134 12,814,511 0 3,250,575 
           

           

Housing – HRA (Crawley Homes)           

Improvements -           

Decent Homes 2,281,574 1,012,001 2,281,574      2,300,000 2,300,000     

Renovations 515,377 208,779 515,377      650,000 2,050,000     

Insulation 3,255,274 286,378 3,255,274      1,800,000 1,800,000     

Renewable Technology/Carbon Efficiency 158,123 21,368 158,123      80,000 80,000     

Compliancy Works 2,188,938 153,459 2,188,938      1,750,000 1,450,000     

Boilers & Heating 1,206,083 113,245 1,206,083      1,000,000 1,800,000     

Electrical Test & Inspection 58,394 88,198 58,394      50,000 50,000     

Adaptations For The Disabled 1,928,351 189,279 1,928,351      1,250,000 1,300,000     

Hostels 390,458 27,617 303,258   87,200  468,500 291,800     

TOTAL HRA IMPROVEMENTS 11,982,572 2,100,324 11,895,372 0 87,200  9,348,500 11,121,800 0 0 
           

           

Other HRA (Crawley homes)           

P
age 59

 8 2021/2022 Budget Monitoring - Quart

A
genda Item

 8



 

 

Scheme Description 
Budget 
2021/22 

Spend to 
Date 

Projected 
Outturn 

Under / 
(Over 

Spend) 
Slippage  Budget 

2022/23 
Budget 
2023/24 

Budget 
2024/25 

Future 
Years 

  £ £ £ £ £  £ £ £ £ 

HRA Database 399,748 103,084 399,748              

151 London Road (New Build) 18,432 26,820 27,156 (8,724)            

Bridgefield House 37,605 2,259 28,659 8,946            

Acquisition Of Land Or Dwellings 2,378,250   578,250   1,800,000  1,800,000       

Kilnmead 6,555 1,080 6,555              

Forge Wood                1,235,388   

Telford Place Development 70,000 18,924 58,924   11,076  8,060,336 7,608,311 4,960,136   

Woolborough Road Northgate 500   500              

Goffs Park - Depot Site 2,969 2,969 2,969              

83-87 Three Bridges Road 996 996 996              

Dobbins Place 2,500   2,500              

Forge Wood Phase 2 4,116,859 300,838 4,116,859      1,798,344 60,765     

257/259 Ifield Road 500   500              

Forge Wood Phase 4 4,273,507 92,676 179,271   4,094,236  6,865,082 2,770,846 2,770,846   

Purchase Of Properties 3,500,000       3,500,000  3,500,000       

5 Perryfields 237,777 9,041 16,541   221,236  362,221 229,614 11,283   

Carey House 129,159   129,159              

Fairlawn House 210,000 1,000 10,000   200,000  200,000       

Milton Mount Major Works 1,722,105 3,792 1,722,105              

Breezehurst Phase 2 3,594,827 19,728 188,728   3,406,099  8,782,448 5,663,733 500 210,820 

Contingencies 168,085   168,307 (222)      1,137,311     

Prelims 489,117 40,419 489,117              

TOTAL OTHER HRA 21,359,491 623,626 8,126,844 0 13,232,647  31,368,431 17,470,580 8,978,153 210,820 

           

TOTAL HRA 33,342,063 2,723,950 20,022,216 0 13,319,847  40,716,931 28,592,380 8,978,153 210,820 

           

TOTAL CAPITAL PROGRAMME 70,074,613 9,032,729 54,355,716 14,235 15,704,662  54,483,065 41,406,891 8,978,153 3,461,395 

      
 

    

P
age 60

 8 2021/2022 Budget Monitoring - Quart

A
genda Item

 8



 

 

Scheme Description 
Budget 
2021/22 

Spend to 
Date 

Projected 
Outturn 

Under / 
(Over 

Spend) 
Slippage  Budget 

2022/23 
Budget 
2023/24 

Budget 
2024/25 

Future 
Years 

  £ £ £ £ £  £ £ £ £ 

      
 

    
FUNDED BY      

 
    

Capital Receipts (17,119,289) (6,192,822) (17,055,983) (14,235) (49,071)  (808,198) (7,545,793)   (109,465) 

Capital Reserve (953,576)   (953,576)              

Better Care Fund (formally DFGs) (1,868,451)   (1,000,000)   (868,451)  (868,451)       

External Funding (183,378) (13,051) (216,307)   32,929  (6,544,450) (2,779,344)   (3,076,344) 

HRA Revenue Contribution (29,531,754) (2,589,095) (18,591,548)   (10,940,208)  (33,624,706) (23,892,398) (6,284,707) (147,574) 

Replacement Fund/Revenue Financing (2,905,883)   (1,405,881)   (1,500,000)  (1,423,000)       

Section 106 (1,021,975) (102,908) (1,021,975)      (622,035) (720,000)   (64,766) 

1-4-1 (5,490,307) (134,853) (3,110,446)   (2,379,861)  (7,592,225) (6,469,356) (2,693,446) (63,246) 

Borrowing (11,000,000)   (11,000,000)      (3,000,000)       

TOTAL FUNDING (70,074,613) (9,032,729) (54,355,716) (14,235) (15,704,662)  (54,483,065) (41,406,891) (8,978,153) (3,461,395) 

 

P
age 61

 8 2021/2022 Budget Monitoring - Quart

A
genda Item

 8



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

LDS/172 
 

Appointment to Cabinet Outside Bodies and Organisations 
 
 
 
The Cabinet is requested to appoint to the following Outside Bodies and Organisations for the 
municipal year 2021/2022. 
 
 
 

Name of Organisation 2021/2022 Appointment 
 

The Cycling Forum  

High Weald Area of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty Advisory Committee 
 

 

Gatwick Airport Noise Management Board 
 

 

Gatwick Airport Noise Management Board 
Community Forum 
 

 

Strategic Aviation Special Interest Group 
 

 

 
 

Page 63

 9
 C

ab
in

et
 A

pp
oi

nt
m

en
ts

 to
 O

ut
si

de
 B

od

Agenda Item 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 65

 1
2 

P
ro

pe
rty

 A
cq

ui
si

tio
n 

to
 In

cr
ea

se
 th

Agenda Item 12
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	7 Petition – 'Keep your dog on a lead in Tilgate Park'.
	8 2021/2022 Budget Monitoring - Quarter 1
	9 Cabinet Appointments to Outside Bodies and Organisations
	12 Property Acquisition to Increase the Council’s Portfolio of Temporary Accommodation

